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RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of Trustees Meeting
Tuesday, May 24, 2022, 8:00 am to 12:00 pm Eastern
Hyatt Regency Cambridge
Cambridge, MA
AGENDA
Presiding Officer: Rodney Grogan
I.

(8:00 am to 8:10 am)
CALL TO ORDER, SELF INTRODUCTIONS & REVIEW OF THE ANTITRUST
STATEMENT – Mr. Grogan
ACTION: Compliance with RMCREF’s Antitrust Statement and U.S. antitrust laws.

II.

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES – Mr. Grogan
SUGGESTED MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of
Trustees hereby approves the minutes of the November 10, 2021, meeting as presented.

III.

(8:10 am to 9:00 am)
ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE REPORTS – Mrs. Gentoso and Mrs. Garbini
A. Nominations for Unexpired Terms
i. The Board will consider nominations for unexpired terms on the Board of
Trustees
SUGGESTED MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of
Trustees hereby approves the following individuals for unexpired terms on the Board.
Names To Be Added After Discussion
B. Review and Approval of the Antitrust Statement
i. The Board will review and validate (or revise) the Antitrust Statement
SUGGESTED MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of
Trustees hereby approves the Antitrust Statement as validated (or revised).
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C. Review and Approval of the Trustees Position Description
ii. The Board will review and validate (or revise) the Trustee Position Description
SUGGESTED MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of
Trustees hereby approves the Trustee Position Description as validated (or revised).
D. Review and Approval of the Conflict of Interest Policy
i. The Board will review and validate (or revise) the Conflict of Interest Policy
SUGGESTED MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of
Trustees hereby approves the Conflict of Interest Policy as validated (or revised).
E. Review and Approval of Foundation Bylaws
i. The Board will review and validate (or revise) the Foundation Bylaws
SUGGESTED MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of
Trustees hereby approves the Foundation Bylaws as validated (or revised).
IV.

(9:00 am to 10:00 am)
FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT REPORTS
A. Review of Investment Portfolio – Messrs. Thatcher and Lamm, Cypress Private
Wealth
B. Review and Approval of 2021 Audit – Mr. Chaney and Mrs. Garbini
SUGGESTED MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of
Trustees hereby approves the 2021 Audit report as presented and recommended by the
Finance Committee.
C. Review and Approval of Unaudited Budget v. Actual March 31, 2022, Financial
Report – Mr. Chaney and Mrs. Garbini
SUGGESTED MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of
Trustees hereby approves the unaudited budget v. actual March 31, 2022, financial report
as presented and recommended by the Finance Committee.
D. Fundraising and Long-Term Financial Projection – Mr. Grogan, Mr. Chaney and
Mrs. Garbini
(10:00 am to 10:15 am)
BREAK
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V.

(10:15 am to 11:15 am)
PROGRAMS & TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER – Messrs. Ruiz and Lyons, Mrs.
Garbini and Mrs. LeFevre
A. Feedback on MIT Concrete Sustainability Hub Agenda and Meetings – Trustees will
have the opportunity to comment on the reports and progress presented at the May 23
MIT CSHub Industry Advisory Council and Technical Advisory Group meetings, as
well as the future agenda of the CSHub
B. Recent and Upcoming Program Releases – Mrs. Garbini and Mrs. LeFevre will
provide a communications and implementation update on currently-funded programs.
C. Approval or Rejection of Project Proposals – Messrs. Ruiz and Lyons, and Mrs.
Garbini will review submitted proposals and the recommendations of the Program
Committee and Advisory Council.
SUGGESTED MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of
Trustees hereby approves/rejects Projects for funding.

VI.

(11:15 am to 11:45 am)
FUTURE MEETINGS – Mr. Grogan and Mrs. Garbini
A. Strategic Planning Meeting – Trustees will review the location and proposed format
for the August 17-19, 2022, Strategic Planning Meeting and will provide feedback to
help shape plans
B. Fall Meeting Date and Location

VII.
VIII.

(11:45 am to 12:00 pm)
OTHER BUSINESS – Mr. Grogan
ADJOURNMENT
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RMC Research & Education Foundation
ANTITRUST STATEMENT

The RMC Research & Education Foundation assigns the highest priority to full
compliance with both the letter and the spirit of the antitrust laws. It is thus vital that all
meetings and activities of the Foundation be conducted in a manner consistent with that
policy.
Agreements among competitors that unreasonably restrain or limit competition are
unlawful under the antitrust laws and violators are subject to criminal fines and
incarceration, civil fines and private treble damage actions. Examples of such illegal
agreements by competitors are agreements to fix or stabilize prices, agreements to
allocate territories or customers, and agreements to limit production or output.
Accordingly, it is inherently risky and potentially improper for competitors to discuss at
Foundation meetings or activities, or otherwise, the subjects of prices, terms and
conditions of sale, markets, individual customers, individual company costs, and other
elements or factors that may affect competition.
It is important to bear in mind that those in attendance at Foundation meetings and
activities may include competitors. Any discussion of sensitive antitrust subjects with
one’s competitors should be avoided at all times before, during, and after any Foundation
meeting or activity. If at any time during the course of any meeting or activity, the
Foundation staff believes that a sensitive topic under the antitrust laws is being discussed,
or is about to be discussed, they will so advise and halt further discussion. Attendees at
any meeting or activity should likewise not hesitate to voice any concerns they may have
in this regard.
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RMC Research & Education Foundation
Board of Trustees Online Meeting
Wednesday, November 10, 2021
11:00 am EDT
MINUTES
Participants:
Henry Batten
Tim Becken
David Campos
Ted Chandler
Hall Chaney
Bruce Christensen
Steve Cox
Rick Edwards
John Ernst
I.

Joel Galassini
Rodney Grogan
John Holliday
Don Ingrassano
Pete Lyons
Adam Manatt
Mike Philipps
Stephen Render
Filiberto Ruiz
Massimo Toso

Alan Wessel
Guest:
Shad Lamm
Mark Thatcher
Staff:
Julie Garbini
Jennifer LeFevre

CALL TO ORDER, WELCOME & REVIEW OF THE ANTITRUST STATEMENT
Mr. Ingrassano called the meeting to order. Mr. Ingrassano said that the meeting would be conducted in
accordance with the Foundation’s Antitrust statement and all US antitrust laws. Mrs. LeFevre took a roll call
of the participants.

II.

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES
Mr. Ingrassano asked if there were any additions or changes to the minutes from the Board of Trustees
meeting on April 29, 2021, and there were none.
MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of Trustees hereby approves the minutes of
the meeting on April 29, 2021.

III.

ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE
A. Nominations for Board of Trustees Terms 2022-2024 – Mrs. Garbini noted that all nominees included in
the slate are current Trustees. She reported that with Vulcan’s acquisition of U.S. Concrete that either
Chris Schenone or Stephen Render will leave the Board since the Bylaws stipulate only one elected
representative per company. However, they are still working on who that representative will be and, in
the meantime, Steven Render has been included in the slate. Mrs. Garbini also noted that the alternates
include Abbott Lawrence, who gave up his elected seat when he became an Ex-Officio member of the
Board, and Anne Noonan with Summit Materials.
MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of Trustees hereby approves the slated
nominees as presented and recommended by the Administration Committee.
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B. Nominations for 2022 Officer Positions – Mrs. Garbini reported on the slate of nominees for officer
positions for 2022.
MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of Trustees hereby approves the slated
nominees as presented and recommended by the Administration Committee.
IV.

INVESTMENT REPORT AND STRATEGY DISCUSSION
A. Investment Management Report – Mr. Thatcher updated the group on investment challenges, the state of
the economy in general and the state of the Foundation’s investments specifically. He noted they are
particularly concerned with inflation.
Mrs. Garbini reminded the group of the change made to the Foundation’s investment policies earlier this
year that changed the equities to fixed income ratio to a 70% - 30%, provided that any stocks above the
60% threshold be held in buffered investments. She also noted that previously, the Foundation’s budget
has included a 4% interest income line item, despite earnings generally being higher than that. She noted
that the Finance Committee chose to budget for a 5% investment income in the proposed 2022 budget
and said they chose to do so in consultation with Messrs. Thatcher and Lamm. Mr. Thatcher remarked
that he thought it was reasonable but reiterated that there are no guarantees on investment performance.
He also noted that the additional flexibility provided in the changes to the investment guidelines have
helped them a lot.
Their presentation is included with these minutes as Appendix A.
B. Review and Approval of Unaudited Budget v. Actual September 30, 2021, Financial Report – Mrs.
Garbini reported that we had collected an additional $77,000+ since the September statement and noted
that a high number of pledge payments are due in the last quarter of the year. She said that the
Foundation has over 70 new donors this year, mostly attributed to events. She thanked Bruce
Christensen and Master Builders Solutions for holding a walk to benefit the Foundation and encouraged
others to do the same. Mrs. Garbini noted that some Board members helped to open doors to discussions
with potential donors and that she expects the Foundation to be right at the budgeted fundraising goal.
Mrs. Garbini reported that we will be over budget on program expenses. However, she said that was due
to projects being delayed last year due to the pandemic, so the money essentially was not spent last year
and rolled over into this year. She said all other expenses are either underbudget or are on track.
MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of Trustees hereby approves the
unaudited budget v. actual September 30, 2021, financial report as presented and recommended by the
Finance Committee.
C. Long-Term Financial Projection, MIT CSHub Funding, Future Fundraising and 2022 Proposed Budget –
Mrs. Garbini gave an overview of the situation surrounding funding of the MIT Concrete Sustainability
Hub (CSHub). She reminded the group that a renewed five-year workplan was agreed to for the CSHub
in 2019 by both the Foundation and PCA. After the pandemic hit in 2020, MIT agreed to a one-time
funding reduction of $500,000, or $250,000 per funding organization, for 2021. However, given some
additional budgetary challenges faced by PCA, including the loss of a major member and the inability to
hold their IEEE conference two years in a row, PCA chose to provide their one-year notice of intent to
terminate the master agreement. This means that they are only contractually obligated to fulfill their part
of the agreement until August 31, 2022. Mrs. Garbini reported that with this notice, MIT’s Office of
Sponsored Programs has started the process of winding down the CSHub program. Given this
development, they have been unable to hire a new Executive Director since Jeremy Gregory left in May
2
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and that they have not been able to hire new post-docs. Additionally, they are in danger of losing
significant talent, including Randy Kirchain and Andrew Logan.
Mrs. Garbini further noted that with the kickoff in October of PCA’s Roadmap to Carbon Neutrality,
MIT can and should play a key role in supporting that effort. She also reported that LafargeHolcim has
agreed to help support MIT independently through the Foundation, committing $250,000 per year in
2022, 2023 and 2024 ($750K total) to the Foundation with the donation going specifically toward
funding the MIT CSHub. Mrs. Garbini relayed a sense of urgency toward ensuring that the CSHub
agreement is re-validated through the remainder of the original agreement to stabilize the program and
relationship with MIT. She said that it is the recommendation of the officers and the Finance Committee
that the RMC Research & Education Foundation guarantee full funding of the MIT CSHub master
agreement through 2024 up to $2 million per year. Mrs. Garbini noted that it was still the hope that PCA
or its individual members will help fund the program at some level, but the Foundation becoming the
guarantor of the full amount in the short-term will help us keep the agenda moving forward in the
interim.
Mr. Ruiz noted that PCA is obligated to fulfill its obligation through August, 2022 so that the shortfall
would not be as great next year. He also noted that there are plans to discuss funding beyond that but
that PCA’s Board had not had an opportunity to consider it yet. He anticipates that continued funding
could be in the range of $250,000 to $500,000 per year, especially given that they anticipate MIT’s
support as part of their roadmap effort. Mr. Ingrassano noted that he felt it was important that funding
considerations impact the CSHub as little as possible and that he felt it was necessary to make a decision
on funding as soon as possible so that they understand our commitment and can move forward. He
reiterated that the Foundation’s commitment could go as high as $1.75 million for 2023 and 2024, taking
into consideration LafargeHolcim’s $250K commitment and not yet knowing what, if any, commitment
will come from PCA, though the commitment could drop as low as the original $1 million depending on
whether PCA or its members come back in. He noted that given the uncertainty around the numbers, he
really encourages other Board members to comment on this recommendation. A question was asked
whether the year that is still under contract would be enough to keep current MIT personnel engaged.
Mrs. Garbini explained that we cannot replace the Executive Director and some post-doc positions
because MIT considers the program in shut down mode. She also noted that the uncertainty around
future funding will likely cause us to lose other key personnel because they have to “fund” their own
positions with research grants and if that funding is not assured through the CSHub they will need to
begin seeking other research patrons. Even with the communications position, it is common sense for
employees to start looking for another job if they do not feel their position is stable. She said she felt a
decision needed to be made as soon as possible or that we would surely lose additional researchers and
not being able to hire post-docs would put the work behind. Mr. Batten noted that this is the third time
since entering the relationship with MIT that funding considerations have become a problem and that he
is deeply concerned with the damage being done to the relationship, though he hopes it can be repaired.
He noted that the concrete side’s commitment has remained steady and that he agrees that the
Foundation should commit to fully funding MIT.
Mr. Grogan noted that the officers want to ensure that the Board members understand what fully
committing to MIT would mean. Even with LafargeHolcim’s commitment, the Foundation may be on
the hook for $1.75M in 2023 and 2024, which is $750,000 per year more than the current commitment.
If additional fundraising is not undertaken, the Foundation would dwindle its endowment’s principal and
would potentially need to decrease or eliminate the funding of other programs. He noted he is concerned
about losing Randy Kirchain, who has done an excellent job since Jeremy Gregory’s departure, or other
members of the CSHub team.
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Mr. Chandler noted that, despite some ups and downs in the early years, the contributions made by MIT
to programs such as Build With Strength have helped to grow our industry and that he is in favor of the
MIT commitment. He is particularly concerned with being able to hire an Executive Director as soon as
possible.
Mr. Ingrassano noted that waiting to decide could result in losing a great deal of ground if we lose some
of the key staff members. He noted his own positive experiences with MIT’s work helping to make
changes in Virginia.
Mr. Toso noted that he was in favor of ensuring the relationship with MIT continues, particularly in light
of PCA’s roadmap initiative. Mr. Ingrassano agreed that this is an important element. Mr. Galassini also
spoke up in support of MIT, noting that we need their expertise now more than ever. Mr. Chaney noted
that while there are issues that could be addressed by supporting companies such as issues surrounding
implementation, he noted that the product provided by MIT has been phenomenal.
Mrs. Garbini brough up the long-term financial projection and noted different possibilities, depending
on budget and fundraising. Mr. Becken noted that he had been involved since the beginning and he
firmly believes that the Foundation should become the face of the CSHub, and reiterated Mr. Chandler’s
point of the urgency of hiring an Executive Director, especially one who is as good a communicator.
Mrs. Garbini agreed that strong communication skills will be crucial.
Mr. Ingrassano suggested that a strategic committee be established to determine how to fund this
initiative to also ensure that it does not erode the endowment. However, he thought it best that the Board
consider the 2022 budget first.
Mrs. Garbini noted that the proposed budget assumed that PCA would pay $500,000 for 2022. She
explained that many of the Troesh campaign pledges end this year so that the pledge redemption line
item is much lower than in previous years. However, Mrs. Garbini noted that the fundraising budget still
included a significant increase in new pledges for 2022. She also noted that the line item for portfolio
earnings was increased to 5%, as mentioned earlier. With expenses, she noted that $150,000 had been
budgeted for new programs and that some other line items, such as in person meetings, were increased
since we hope to return to in-person meetings in 2022. Other expenses have been cut where possible and
the salaries and benefits line item includes a 2.5% increase, though any changes will be up to the
compensation committee.
Mr. Ingrassano asked if there were any questions regarding the proposed 2022 budget and there were
none.
MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of Trustees hereby approves the
proposed 2022 Budget as presented and recommended by the Finance Committee.
The Board then considered the motion to take over responsibility for financing the MIT CSHub.
MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of Trustees hereby approves assuming
the responsibility for the MIT CSHub master agreement through the current term ending August 31,
2024, at up to $2M/year as a stop gap to stabilize the long-term MIT CSHub relationship and to retain
and hire key personnel.
Mr. Ingrassano noted that the motion carried unanimously. He also thanked all those who have been
involved in working on this difficult issue.
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Mrs. Garbini asked for volunteers to work on the task group Mr. Ingrassano suggested. Mr. Chandler
proposed that the committee to be comprised of past chairmen of the Foundation, along with the current
officers. The other past chairmen on the call agreed to participate. Mr. Ernst suggested it would be a
good idea to ensure cement producers were represented on the task group and it was noted that Alex
Car, Don Ingrassano and Jamie Gentoso were included in the group. Mrs. Garbini also said that if
anyone else did want to participate, they were welcome to do so and to please let her know.
V. PROGRAMS & TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER
A. Overview of and Voting on Proposal Recommendations from the Program Committee and Advisory
Council – In the interest of time, Mrs. Garbini suggested that those proposals that were recommended
for tabling by the Advisory Council and Program Committee be tabled by the Board and brought back
up for consideration once additional information is received. The group agreed.
MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of Trustees hereby tables Project 21-09,
Project 21-10, and Project 21-12.
Mrs. Garbini reported that Project 21-08 was supported by Foundation donor Dolese Bros., as well as
both the Advisory Council and Program Committee. She said it was a great opportunity to compare
identical homes – one built with ICF and other built with convention materials – in the same geographic
location to be able to compare them on things like energy efficiency. She noted that the builder is also
contributing to the project and that it would also support Build With Strength.
MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of Trustees hereby approves Project 2108 for funding.
Mrs. Garbini reported that Project 21-11 involves the gathering of building acoustic data that is more
frequently being requested by builders. She noted that this project would be funded jointly by the
Foundation and NRMCA and would provide a quick deliverable at a relatively low cost.
MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of Trustees hereby approves Project 2111 for funding.
Mrs. Garbini reported that the first phase of this ICF project is almost complete and included modeling
that this proposal, Project 21-13, seeks to validate. She reminded the group that they had previously
received a proposal from the University of Washington but that it was much too expensive to consider.
This proposal is much more reasonable and has scaled back some elements. This proposal’s cost would
also be shared with NRMCA and would provide real-world data that will help bring about changes in
ACI and ASTM to make ICF construction more sustainable and affordable.
MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of Trustees hereby approves Project 2113 for funding.
Mrs. Garbini reported that Project 21-16 would also be co-funded by NRMCA and would support the
Build With Strength effort in illustrating earthquake resilience with different building materials.
MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of Trustees hereby approves Project 2116 for funding.
Mrs. Garbini noted that there were concerns with Project 21-14 and Project 21-15. While there was
support for both, the Advisory Council and Program Committee members felt that there should be
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additional funding partners for both, particularly from the National Stone, Sand and Gravel Association
for Project 21-15 since it is an aggregate issue. With Project 21-15, she also noted that the researchers
had previously secured some funding from ACI Strategic Development Council and although they had
lost it due to project delays, she believes they have received approval for funding again, though such
funding is usually contingent on additional industry funding. Mrs. Garbini suggested that the Board
approve a nominal amount to assist the researchers with securing the SDC funding. The group chose to
table consideration of Project 21-14 to see if PCA or others also chose to fund the project.
MOTION: The RMC Research & Education Foundation Board of Trustees hereby approves Project 2115 for funding of $15,000 and hereby tables consideration of Project 21-14.
B. 2021 Program Highlights and Communications Update – Mrs. Garbini said she would make her
presentation available after the meeting. She quickly noted that workforce issues will likely be a main
program focus for 2022 and she encouraged the Board members to review the Programs &
Communications summary included on the Board materials page. Mrs. Garbini praised Mrs. LeFevre’s
work in preparing several videos for the Foundation this year and her outreach to trade press in having
several 30th anniversary-themed items included in publications this year. She asked Mrs. LeFevre to
report on the Foundation’s communications open rate. Mrs. LeFevre noted that the average open rate for
non-profits is generally 25.2% but that the Foundation’s communications open rate, which we can track
from our database, is 33.3%. Mrs. LeFevre also encourage all Trustees to ensure that their colleagues
were signed up for the Foundation’s mailing list to ensure that they receive our communications and
noted that people can sign up right from the Foundation’s home page.
VI.

FUTURE MEETINGS
Mrs. Garbini outlined several possibilities for the Foundation’s Spring Board meeting, including holding
it at NRMCA’s Convention and the PCA meetings in San Antonio in March, as part of MIT’s spring
meetings though exact dates are still to be determined, or as a stand-alone meeting. She said she thought
it would be a good idea to hold an in-person meeting since we’ve not been able to do so in a while. The
general consensus was that holding the meeting in conjunction with MIT would be the best option. Mrs.
Garbini said she would let the Trustees know as soon as the dates are established.

VII.

OTHER BUSINESS
Mrs. Garbini acknowledged and thanked Chairman Ingrassano for his service as chairman this year and
noted that she had sent him a recognition gift since we were unable to present one in person. She also
thanked Chris Schenone and Stephen Render both for their service since we were not sure who would
maintain their board seat.
Mr. Ingrassano asked if there was any other business and there was none. He thanked Mr. Grogan and
Mrs. Gentoso for their service as officers and the rest of the Board members for their participation.

VIII.

ADJORNMENT
Having no further business, the meeting adjourned.

Minutes respectfully submitted:
Jennifer LeFevre
Recorder
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RMC Research & Education Foundation
ANTITRUST STATEMENT
The RMC Research & Education Foundation assigns the highest priority to full compliance with
both the letter and the spirit of the antitrust laws. It is thus vital that all meetings and activities of the
Foundation be conducted in a manner consistent with that policy.
Agreements among competitors that unreasonably restrain or limit competition are unlawful under
the antitrust laws and violators are subject to criminal fines and incarceration, civil fines and private treble
damage actions. Examples of such illegal agreements by competitors are agreements to fix or stabilize
prices, agreements to allocate territories or customers, and agreements to limit production or output.
Accordingly, it is inherently risky and potentially improper for competitors to discuss at Foundation
meetings or activities, or otherwise, the subjects of prices, terms and conditions of sale, markets, individual
customers, individual company costs, and other elements or factors that may affect competition.
It is important to bear in mind that those in attendance at Foundation meetings and activities may
include competitors. Any discussion of sensitive antitrust subjects with one’s competitors should be avoided
at all times before, during, and after any Foundation meeting or activity. If at any time during the course of
any meeting or activity, the Foundation staff believes that a sensitive topic under the antitrust laws is being
discussed, or is about to be discussed, they will so advise and halt further discussion. Attendees at any
meeting or activity should likewise not hesitate to voice any concerns they may have in this regard.
Trustees who violate the antitrust policy and Antitrust Statement will be immediately stopped
from speaking, and may be expelled from the meeting and/or membership on the Board of Trustees after
review of the matter by the Board's officers or at the advice of corporate counsel.
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RMC RESEARCH & EDUCATION FOUNDATION
BOARD OF TRUSTEES POSITION DESCRIPTION
Reviewed and Approved March 20, 2019May 24, 2022
REPORTS TO: RMC Research & Education Foundation cContributors and the cCitizens of the United States
by virtue of the Foundation’s 501(c)(3) non-profit status
POSITION DESCRIPTION: Members of the Board of Trustees for the RMC Research & Education
Foundation (referred to as the “Foundation” henceforth) provide governance to the organization, represent the
Foundation to the community and accept legal and fiduciary authority for the Foundation’s operations.
SPECIFIC RESPONSIBILTIES:
I.

Determine and work to fulfill the Foundation’s mission and purpose.

II.

Attend and participate in all Board of Trustees meetings, conference calls and ballot initiatives.

III.

Ensure proper fiduciary governance of the Foundation including annual budgetary review.

IV.

Review periodically the Foundation’s mission, goals, policies and bylaws.

V.

Participate in at least one of the Foundation committees including the Administration Committee, the
Finance Committee, or the Program Committee. Participate in ad hoc committees as requested.

VI.

Ensure adequate resources by assisting with fundraising efforts by actively soliciting new/increased
contributions, securing a securing corporate pledges from his or her employer/company and ensuring
that they are in good standing, and by making a personal pledge contribution to the Foundation.

VII.

Review and evaluate all proposed programs for funding and evaluate the success of funded programs in
practice. Monitor the progress of funded programs.

VIII.

Monitor, review and evaluate at least annually Foundation management, compliance and governance
through regular Board of Trustees meetings.

IX.

Promote the activities, projects and programs of the Foundation to the industry and community.

X.

Act as a conduit between his or her employer/company personnel and the Foundation by communicating
important Foundation information to appropriate individuals, engaging appropriate company personnel
in the Foundation’s activities, and by ensuring timely payment of corporate pledges.

LEGAL OBLIGATIONS OF BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEMBERS:
I.

Duty of Care: Requires that the Trustee be reasonably informed about the Foundation’s activities,
participate in the making of decisions and does so in good faith exercising the care, diligence and skill
that an ordinary, prudent person would exhibit under similar circumstances.

II.

Duty of Loyalty: Requires that the Trustee exercises his or her power in the interest of the Foundation
and not in his or her own interest or the interest of another entity.
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III.

Duty of Obedience: Requires that Trustee complies with applicable federal, state and local laws and
adheres to the Foundation’s Bylaws and remains a guardian of the Foundation’s mission.
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CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY
Reviewed and Approved March 20, 2019May 24, 2022
SECTION 1. PURPOSE:
The Ready Mixed Concrete (RMC) Research & Education Foundation is a nonprofit,
tax‐exempt organization. Maintenance of its tax‐exempt status is important both for its
continued financial stability and for donor support.
Consequently, there exists between the Foundation and its board, officers, and
management employees and the public a fiduciary duty, which carries with it a broad and
unbending duty of loyalty and fidelity. The board, officers, and management employees
have the responsibility of administering the affairs of the Foundation honestly and
prudently, and of exercising their best care, skill and judgment for the sole benefit of the
Foundation. Those persons shall exercise the utmost good faith in all transactions involved
in their duties, and they shall not use their positions with the Foundation or knowledge
gained therefrom for their personal benefit. The interests of the organization must be the
first priority in all decisions and actions, unless such interests directly conflict with the
operations, business, and/or duties of the trustees and officers in their respective
management roles in other companies, in which case they must be disclosed.
SECTION 2. PERSONS CONCERNED:
This statement is directed not only to directors and officers, but to all employees who
can influence the actions of the Foundation. For example, this would include all who make
purchasing decisions, all persons who might be described as “management personnel,” and
anyone who has proprietary information concerning the Foundation.
SECTION 3. AREAS IN WHICH CONFLICT MAY ARISE:
Conflicts of interest may arise in the relations of directors, officers, and management
employees with any of the following third parties:
1.
2.
3.

4.
5.
6.

Persons and firms supplying goods and services to the Foundation.
Persons and firms from whom the Foundation leases property and equipment.
Persons and firms with whom the Foundation is dealing or planning to deal in
connection with the gift, purchase or sale of real estate, securities, or other
property.
Competing or affinity organizations.
Donors and others supporting the Foundation.
Agencies, organizations, and associations which affect the operations of the
Foundation.
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7.

Family members, friends, and other employees.

SECTION 4. NATURE OF CONFLICTING INTEREST:
A conflicting interest may be defined as an interest, direct or indirect, with any
persons or firms mentioned in Section 3. Such an interest might arise through:
1.
2.

3.
4.
5.

5.6.

Owning stock or holding debt or other proprietary interests in any third party
dealing with the Foundation.
Holding office, serving on the board, participating in management, or being
otherwise employed (or formerly employed) with any third party dealing with the
Foundation.
Receiving remuneration for services with respect to individual transactions
involving the Foundation.
Using the Foundation’s time, personnel, equipment, supplies or good will for
other than Foundation‐approved activities, programs, and purposes.
Receiving personal gifts or loans from third parties dealing or competing with the
Foundation. Receipt of any gift is disapproved except gifts of a value less than
$100250, which could not be refused without discourtesy. No personal gift of
money should ever be accepted.
Receiving personal gifts or money from public officials in exchange for political
favors or to influence industry competition in any way that would violate antitrust
laws and regulations.

SECTION 5. INTERPRETATION OF THIS STATEMENT OF POLICY:
The areas of conflicting interest listed in Section 3, and the relations in those areas
which may give rise to conflict, as listed in Section 4, are not exhaustive. Conflicts might
arise in other areas or through other relations. It is assumed that the directors, officers, and
management employees will recognize such areas and relation by analogy.
The fact that one of the interests described in Section 4 exists does not necessarily
mean that a conflict exists, or that the conflict, if it exists, is material enough to be of
practical importance, or if material, that upon full disclosure of all relevant facts and
circumstances it is necessarily adverse to the interests of the Foundation.
However, it is the policy of the board that the existence of any of the interests
described in Section 4 shall be disclosed before any transaction is consummated. It shall be
the continuing responsibility of the board, officers, and management employees to
scrutinize their transactions and outside business interests and relationships for potential
conflicts and to immediately make such disclosures.
SECTION 6. DISCLOSURE POLICY AND PROCEDURE:
Transactions with parties with whom a conflicting interest exists may be undertaken
only if all of the following are observed:
1.

The conflicting interest is fully disclosed;
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2.
3.
4.

The person with the conflict of interest is excluded from the discussion and
approval of such transaction;
A competitive bid or comparable valuation exists; and
The [board or duly constituted committee thereof] has determined that the
transaction is in the best interest of the organization.

Disclosure in the organization should be made to the Executive Director (or if she or
he is the one with the conflict, then to the board chair), who shall bring the matter to the
attention of the [board or a duly constituted committee thereof]. Disclosure involving
directors should be made to the board chair, (or if she or he is the one with the conflict, then
to the board vice‐chair) who shall bring these matters to the [board or a duly constituted
committee thereof].
The board [or duly constituted committee thereof] shall determine whether a
conflict exists and in the case of an existing conflict, whether the contemplated transaction
may be authorized as just, fair, and reasonable to the Foundation. The decision of the
[board or duly constituted committee thereof] on these matters will rest in their sole
discretion, and their concern must be the welfare of the Foundation and the advancement
of its purpose.
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BYLAWS
OF
Ready Mixed Concrete Research & Education Foundation, Inc.
As Revised March 20, 2019May 24, 2022
ARTICLE I. NAME
The name of this foundation is the Ready Mixed Concrete Research & Education Foundation, Inc., also
referred to as “the foundation.” The principal office of the foundation shall be at a location determined by
the board of trustees.
ARTICLE II. OBJECT
Section 1. The object of the foundation shall be to carry on activities exclusively for charitable,
educational and scientific purposes, such as the making of distributions or organizations under Section
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, or corresponding provisions of any future internal revenue law.
Section 2. The foundation shall have the following powers:
A. To organize and promote activities for charitable, scientific, and educational purposes including
research, studies, experiments, conferences, publications and related activities that will improve the
ready mixed concrete industry;
B. To receive contributions and pay them over to individuals or organizations qualified under Section
501(c)(3) of the United States Internal Revenue Code and whose activities will improve the ready
mixed concrete industry.
ARTICLE III. MEMBERS
The foundation shall have no members.
ARTICLE IV. OFFICERS
Section 1. The officers of the foundation shall be the chair, vice chair, and secretary/treasurer.
Section 2. The officers shall be elected by and from the board at its annual meeting, following the
completion of the election of trustees. A majority vote shall be required to elect an officer. Officers shall
serve for a period of one year or until a successor is elected and assumes office.
Section 3.
A. Chair – The chair of the foundation shall be the principal elected executive officer, and as such shall
preside over all meetings of the board of trustees and perform the duties incident to the office of chair
and such other duties as may be prescribed by the governing documents of the foundation or by the
board.
B. Vice Chair – The vice chair shall perform the duties of the chair in his or her absence, shall become
chair in the event of a vacancy in that office, and shall perform the duties incident to the office of vice
chair and such other duties as may be prescribed by the governing documents of the foundation or by
the board.
C. The Secretary/Treasurer shall:
1
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1. Ensure the production and distribution of accurate minutes of all meetings of the board of trustees
and officers;
2. Ensure that all notices are duly given in accordance with these bylaws or as required by law;
3. Ensure that there is the proper publication and distribution of official correspondence, publication
and distribution documents on behalf of the foundation;
4. Have general oversight authority of the books, funds and securities of the Association and
5. Perform the duties incident to the office of secretary/treasurer and such other duties as may be
prescribed by the governing documents of the foundation or the board of trustees.
Section 4. Officers shall be nominated by the administration committee and elected by the board of
trustees. If there is only one nominee for an office, the election may be by voice vote or show of hands.
ARTICLE V – MEETINGS
Section 1. There shall be an annual meeting held at a time and place determined by the board of trustees.
Other regular meetings shall be held as scheduled by the board.
Section 2. Notice of the meeting, stating the date, time and location, shall be given to all trustees at least
fifteen days prior to the meeting. Notice may be waived in writing before, during or after a meeting.
Section 3. Special meetings may be called by the chair or upon the written request of five trustees.
Notice of a special meeting must include the items that will be brought up at the meeting, and only such
items may be taken up at the special meeting. Notice of a special meeting, stating the date, time and
location, shall be given to all trustees at least fifteen days prior to a special meeting.
Section 4. Meetings may be conducted by telephone conference call or other electronic means provided
that all participating can hear and speak to one another at the same time.
Section 5. There shall be no proxy voting.
ARTICLE VI – BOARD OF TRUSTEES
Section 1. The board of trustees shall consist of 24 trustees and the following ex-officio members:
NRMCA Chair, NRMCA Vice Chair, NRMCA Secretary/Treasurer, and the NRMCA President. No
more than one trustee may be from any one company, with the following exceptions: (1) ex-officio
trustees shall be exempt from this requirement, and (2) should there be a merger or acquisition that results
in two trustees from the same company, both trustees will be allowed to complete their respective terms.
Section 2. All trustees will make a personal financial contribution in the amount of their choice to the
Foundation.
Section 3. All trustees will serve on at least one committee.
Section 4. At least fifteen days before the date of the meeting at which the trustees are to be elected for a
regular term, a notice shall be placed on the Foundation’s website and in the NRMCA electronic
newsletter to solicit candidates for the consideration of the Administration Committee. The
Administration Committee shall meet to evaluate the qualifications of all nominees and produce a
recommended slate of candidates and alternates for approval by the board of trustees.
Section 5. The board of trustees shall have the full authority and responsibility for the conduct of the
affairs of the foundation in accordance with policies adopted by the board. The board of trustees shall
adopt and be bound by conflict of interest policies adopted by the board.
2
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Section 6. A quorum of the board shall be 50% of the trustees participating.
Section 7. The elected trustees shall serve a term of three years or until a successor is elected and
assumes office. Such terms shall be staggered so as to elect one third of the trustees each year.
Section 8. Vacancies on the board of trustees shall be filled for the remainder of the term by majority
vote of the remaining trustees.
ARTICLE VII – COMMITTEES AND COUNCILS
Section 1. There shall be the following standing committees: Compensation, Administration, Program,
and Finance.
Section 2. Unless otherwise required by these bylaws, the following shall apply:
A. All committees shall consist of a minimum of five trustees, including a chair.
B. The committee chair shall be appointed by the foundation chair.
Section 3. Compensation Committee
The compensation committee shall be comprised of the officers of the foundation. The duty of this
committee shall be to fix compensation as necessary and required by the board of trustees.
Section 4. Administration Committee
The administration committee shall be chaired by the foundation vice chair, and shall be responsible for
nominating candidates for office and membership on the board of trustees, and for periodically reviewing
and recommending changes to the foundation’s bylaws, conflict of interest policy and trustee job
description. The administration committee shall also act as the lead committee for fundraising strategy
and implementation.
Section 5. Program Committee
The program committee shall be responsible for reviewing all new proposals to the foundation, making
recommendations to the board as appropriate, as well as recommending initiation of “requests for
proposals” (RFP’s) on key issues of interest to the industry. The committee shall also provide projects
oversight as consistent with the contracted schedule of milestones for delivery. The vice chair of the
program committee shall also serve as the chair of the advisory council.
Section 6. Finance Committee
The finance committee shall be chaired by the treasurer. The committee shall be responsible for the
review and proposal of appropriate recommendations on the financial statements, annual audit, proposed
budgets, and accounting and investment policies. The committee shall review and make recommendations
related to the performance of the investment advisor, accounting firm and auditor.
Section 7. Advisory Council
There shall be an advisory council, consisting of a variety of technical experts in the areas of research and
education, representatives of donor companies, and individual donors. The advisory council shall provide
input on newly proposed projects and the need for initiation of requests for proposals on issues of key
concern to the industry. This input shall be submitted to the program committee, and subsequently the
board of trustees, for consideration.
ARTICLE VIII – PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY
The rules contained in the most current edition of Robert’s Rules of Order Newly Revised shall govern
3
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this foundation in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with these
bylaws and any special rules of order which the foundation may adopt.
ARTICLE IX – AMENDMENT
These bylaws may be amended at any meeting of the board of trustees by a two-thirds vote, provided that
a copy of the exact text of the amendment is sent to all trustees with the notice of the meeting at which the
amendment is to be considered.
ARTICLE X – INDEMNIFICATION
The foundation agrees to indemnify and hold harmless, to the extent that such a person is not indemnified
by an insurance company contract, each officer or trustee from any and all claims, demands, suites or
proceedings and for other action growing out of such action with respect to the foundation; provided,
however, that no such indemnification shall apply to any gross negligence, willful misconduct or willful
breech of responsibility.
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RMC Performance Report

Portfolio Total

Innovator Buffered 2X (XBJA)
Innovator Buffered (PJAN)
Innovator Buffered ((PNOV)
FT CBOE US Equity Buffer (XDEC)
FT CBOE US Equity Buffer (FDEC)
FT CBOE US Equity Buffer (FFEB)
FT CBOE US Equity Buffer (FMAR)
FT CBOE US Equity Buffer (FJUN)
FT CBOE US Equity Buffer (FJUL)
Total
Fixed Income
Fixed Income Portfolio
Total
Money Market

Domestic Equity
iShares Russell 2000 ETF (IWM)
iShares Russell 2000 Growth ETF (IWO)
iShares Russell 2000 Value ETF (IWN)
iShares Russell Mid Cap Growth ETF (IWP)
iShares Russell Mid Cap Value ETF (IWS)
iShares S&P 500 (IVV)
Invesco QQQ ETF
Spyder S&P 500 ETF
Spyder Dow Jones Indu (DIA)
DFA US Core Equity (DFEOX)
DFA US Large Cap Value (DFLVX)
Vanguard Growth ETF (VUG)
Vanguard Mid Cap ETF (VO)
Vanguard Value (VTV)
Vanguard S&P 500 ETF (VOO)
Wasatch Core Growth (WGROX)
Total
International/Global Equity
Schwab International Equity (SCHF)
iShares Emerging Markets (IEMG)
Total
Alternative
Calamos Market Neutral (CMNIX)

As of quarter end March 31, 2022

$381,229.80
$26,989,719.25

$8,416,078.36
$8,416,078.36

$14,463.10
$14,449.50
$416,208.00
$1,213,991.55
$1,553,100.00
$751,200.00
$466,062.80
$1,734,320.27
$355,263.00
$6,519,058.22
-4.85

-1.35

-5.53
-7.28

$46,111.02
$57,161.50
$103,272.52
$902,365.72

-7.54
-12.64
-2.47
-12.62
-1.88
-4.60
-8.76
-4.62
-4.14
-4.28
-0.35
-10.22
-6.29
1.03
-4.49
-15.92

YTD Return

$507,859.36
$164,801.49
$99,890.84
$51,917.00
$201,867.08
$2,095,172.82
$871,314.84
$1,129,714.56
$531,960.00
$185,726.91
$179,421.06
$197,482.75
$794,251.35
$1,994,165.55
$1,213,200.00
$448,969.02
$10,667,714.63

Invested
Balance

2.33

Buffer
9.00
15.00
15.00
15.00
10.00
10.00
10.00
10.00
10.00

Cap
10.58
8.99
8.33
8.58
12.25
13.40
13.93
10.85
10.85

-3.61

4.22

8.45
5.31

11.63
9.80
12.51
14.56
13.44
18.89
27.19
18.76
12.40
17.59
12.83
23.44
15.68
14.06
18.93
17.09

3.07

4.06

7.10
5.96

9.67
10.28
8.40
14.86
9.78
15.95
23.23
15.83
13.23
14.42
10.07
19.90
13.01
12.02
15.98
16.32

Average 3 Year Average 5 Year
Return
Return

2.20

0.74
-10.36

-5.92
-14.42
3.07
-1.09
11.19
15.61
14.15
15.52
6.93
11.88
11.24
12.51
8.83
15.08
15.67
-3.62

1 Year Return

-5.86

-6.33

-5.15
-6.65

-7.53
-12.66
-2.40
-12.58
-1.82
-4.60
-9.47
-4.60
-4.10
-5.28
-0.74
-10.28
-6.31
1.00
-4.60
-12.63

Benchmark
YTD

-4.15

-3.85

1.52
-9.49

-5.79
-14.33
3.32
-0.89
11.45
15.65
13.14
15.65
7.11
11.92
11.67
12.52
8.85
15.12
15.65
-14.33

Benchmark 1
Year Return

1.69

2.12

8.68
5.74

11.74
9.88
12.73
14.81
13.69
18.92
22.15
18.92
12.57
18.24
13.02
23.45
15.67
14.08
18.92
9.88

2.14

2.44

7.33
6.19

9.74
10.33
8.57
15.10
9.99
15.99
19.69
15.99
13.40
15.40
10.29
19.92
13.00
12.03
15.99
10.33

BBgBarc US Agg Bond

S&P 500 Index
S&P 500 Index
S&P 500 Index
S&P 500 Index
S&P 500 Index
S&P 500 Index
S&P 500 Index
S&P 500 Index
S&P 500 Index

BBgBarc US Govt/Credit Bond Index

Foreign Large Blend Morningstar
Diversified Emerging Markets

Russell 2000 Index
Russell 2000 Growth Index
Russell 2000 Value Index
Russell Midcap Growth Index
Russell Midcap Value Index
S&P 500 Index
NASDAQ Composite Index
S&P 500
Dow Jones Industrial Average
Russell 3000 Index
Russell 1000 Value Index
CRSP US Large Cap Growth
CRSP US Mid Cap Index
Value Index
S&P 500 Index
Russell 2000 Growth Index

Benchmark 3 Benchmark 5 Year
Benchmark
Year Return
Return
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Client Name: RMC Research
Account Value
25,985,009.36

Benchmark
Morningstar US Market TR USD

Account Number

Asset Allocation

Report Currency
USD

Asset & Liabilities
Asset Allocation

Account %

Bmark %

2.89
64.64
1.06
30.46
0.95
0.00

0.00
98.86
1.14
0.00
0.00
0.00

100.00

100.00

Cash
US Stock
Non US Stock
Bond
Other
Not Classified

Assets

Cash
US Stock
Non US Stock
Bond
Other
Not Classified

2.89
64.64
1.06
30.46
0.95
0.00

25,985,009.36

100.00

Assets Total

Liabilities

Account Account %

751,110.69
16,795,767.13
275,394.10
7,915,208.53
247,528.91
0.00

Account Account %

Cash
US Stock
Non US Stock
Bond
Other
Not Classified

Liabilities Total
Account Total

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

0.00

0.00

25,985,009.36

Investment Style
Value

Small

Weight %
>30 20-30

Large
Mid

10-20

Small

Mid

Large

Account
Managed Products
Stocks
Benchmark

0-10

Blend

Equity Style

Growth

Ltd

17

23

26

Market Cap

Mil

Account

128,056.28

6

8

4

Benchmark

141,269.43

2

2

1

Weight %
>50 25-50

10-25

0-10

High

Equity Ownership Zone

Growth

Mid

Blend

Low

Value

Not Classified 11%

Mod

Fixed-Income Style

Ext

100

0

0

Avg Eff Duration (Yrs)

4.74

Avg Eff Maturity

5.40

0

0

0

Avg Credit Quality

0

0

0

Weight %
>50 25-50

B
10-25

0-10

Not Classified 0%

Stock Sectors
s

Sen

Account
Benchmark
Morningstar
Index

Utilities

en

24.70

22.00

1.12

Sensitive

Account % Bmark % Rel Bmark

44.19

46.79

0.94

Cyclical

31.10

31.21

1.00

6.00

1.19

Comm Svcs

7.62

8.72

0.87

Basic Matls

2.61

2.53

1.03

14.43

13.33

1.08

Energy

4.41

3.83

1.15

Cons Cyclical 10.71

11.90

0.90

3.14

2.67

1.18

Industrials

9.66

8.66

1.12

Financial Svcs 14.41

13.22

1.09

Technology

22.50

25.58

0.88

Real Estate

3.37

3.56

0.95

0.01

0.00

N/A

Cons Defensive 7.13
Healthcare

Def

Account % Bmark % Rel Bmark

Account % Bmark % Rel Bmark
Defensive

Cycl

Not Classified

World Regions
% of Stocks

Account % Bmark %

Account % Bmark %

Account % Bmark %

Account % Bmark %

Greater Asia

0.51

0.10

Americas

98.33

99.01

Greater Europe

1.17

0.89

Market Maturity

Japan
Australasia
Asia Developed
Asia Emerging

0.06
0.02
0.20
0.23

0.00
0.00
0.07
0.03

North America
Latin America

98.24
0.09

98.86
0.15

United Kingdom
Europe Developed
Europe Emerging
Africa/Middle East

0.48
0.64
0.01
0.04

0.46
0.43
0.00
0.00

Developed Markets
Emerging Markets
Not Available

Not Classified

0.00

0.00

100.00

100.00

99.64
0.36
0.00

99.82
0.18
0.00

Top 10 Holdings
% Assets

Holding Name

Ticker

Security Type

Fund Cat/Stock Ind

7.84
7.51
6.55
5.87
5.31

iShares Core S&P 500 ETF
Vanguard Value ETF
FT Cboe Vest US Equity Buffer ETF Jun
FT Cboe Vest US Equity Buffer ETF Dec
Vanguard Short-Term Infl-Prot Secs ETF

IVV
VTV
FJUN
FDEC
VTIP

ETF
ETF
ETF
ETF
ETF

US Fund Large Blend
US Fund Large Value
US Fund Options Trading
US Fund Options Trading
US Fund Inflation-Protected Bond

2,037,972.24
1,951,782.30
1,701,473.78
1,526,130.00
1,380,628.80

4.61
4.54
4.23
3.43
3.23

FT Cboe Vest US Eq Enh & Mdt Bfr ETF Dec
Vanguard S&P 500 ETF
SPDR® S&P 500 ETF Trust
Calamos Market Neutral Income I
Invesco QQQ Trust

XDEC
VOO
SPY
CMNIX
QQQ

ETF
ETF
ETF
MF
ETF

US Fund Options Trading
US Fund Large Blend
US Fund Large Blend
US Fund Relative Value Arbitrage
US Fund Large Growth

1,198,395.00
1,179,420.00
1,098,616.08
892,276.37
838,393.56

© 2022 Morningstar. All Rights Reserved. The information, data, analyses and opinions contained herein (1) include the confidential and proprietary information of Morningstar, (2) may include, or be derived from, account information provided
by your financial advisor which cannot be verified by Morningstar, (3) may not be copied or redistributed, (4) do not constitute investment advice offered by Morningstar, (5) are provided solely for informational purposes and therefore are not
an offer to buy or sell a security, and (6) are not warranted to be correct, complete or accurate. Except as otherwise required by law, Morningstar shall not be responsible for any trading decisions, damages or other losses resulting from, or
related to, this information, data, analyses or opinions or their use. This report is supplemental sales literature, and therefore must be preceded or accompanied by a prospectus and disclosure statement. Please read the prospectus carefully.
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Market Value
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Charles Schwab Client Center Account Summary

Personal Value

Page last updated 1:34 PM ET, 05/16/2022

$25,285,297.68

+$282,802.30 (1.13%)

Personal Value

Day Change



Refresh

 Help 

 What is Personal Value?

-$2,853,013.85 (-10.14%)

Table View

6-Month Change



1 Mo

3 Mo

6 Mo

YTD

Print

 Hide Chart

1 Yr

2 Yr

$30M
$27.50M

$25M
$22.50M
Nov 29

Dec 13

Dec 27

Jan 10

Jan 24

Feb 7

Feb 21

Mar 7

Mar 21

Apr 4

Apr 18

May 2

May 16

Show investment income

Accounts
Investment

Cash & Cash Investments 

Type

Corporate
...612

Corporate
...612

Corporate
...003

Corporate
...491

Corporate
...194

Corporate
...432

Balance/Value 

Day Change $

Day Change %

Brokerage

$3,203.34

$62,740.02

+$46.95

+0.07%

More

Brokerage

$3,201.20

$10,062,364.31

+$12,854.90

+0.13%

More

Brokerage

$12,567.03

$7,838,476.69

+$10,432.71

+0.13%

More

Brokerage

$608,678.76

$608,678.76

+$250,002.66

+69.70%

More

Brokerage

$5,935.61

$4,494,340.30

+$6,544.76

+0.15%

More

Brokerage

$15,117.26

$2,218,697.60

+$2,920.32

+0.13%

More

$25,285,297.68

+$282,802.30

+1.13%

Investment Total

$648,703.20

Disclosures

Positions

 Hide



ETFs & Closed End Funds
Price Change



Symbol / Name

Quantity

Price

Gain / Loss 

Day Change

$|%

ETFs & Closed End Funds
Total

Market Value

$|%

Cost Basis

$|%

$16,556,128.22

+$23,774.25

$14,182,389.41

+$2,373,738.81

Ratings

Reinvest

% of Holdings

65.48%



Mutual Funds
Price Change



Symbol / Name

Quantity

Price

Gain / Loss 

Day Change

$|%

Mutual Funds Total

Market Value

$|%

Cost Basis

$|%

$1,607,358.31 ‡

N/A

$1,538,049.41

+$69,308.90

Ratings

Reinvest

% of Holdings

6.36%



Fixed Income
Price Change



Symbol / Name

Quantity

Price

Gain / Loss 

Day Change

$|%

Fixed Income Total

Market Value

$|%

Cost Basis

$|%

$6,473,058.12 ‡

N/A

$6,695,258.25

-$272,512.58 †

Ratings

Reinvest

% of Holdings

25.60%



Cash & Money Market
Price Change



Quantity

Symbol / Name

Price

$|%

Cash & Money Market Total

Gain / Loss 

Day Change
Market Value

$|%

$648,703.20

+$259,575.68

Cost Basis

$|%

Ratings

Reinvest

% of Holdings

2.57%

‡. The value reported may not reflect the current price.
†. Items without cost basis are not included in totals
*. Data for this holding has been edited.
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DRAFT #1 (5.1.22)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Board of Trustees
RMC Research & Education Foundation
Alexandria, Virginia

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the RMC Research & Education
Foundation (a nonprofit organization) which comprise the Statement of Financial Position as of
December 31, 2021, and the related Statements of Activities, Functional Expenses, and Cash Flows
for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of RMC Research & Education Foundation as of December 31, 2021, and the
changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be
independent of the RMC Research & Education Foundation and to meet our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; and for
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based
on the financial statements.
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In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we:








Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit.
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the RMC Research & Education Foundation’s internal
control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the RMC Research & Education
Foundation’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal
control related matters that we identified during the audit.
Report on Summarized Comparative Information
We have previously audited the RMC Research & Education Foundation’s 2020 Financial
Statements, and our report dated May 31, 2021, expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial
statements. In our opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for
the year ended December 31, 2020, is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial
statements from which it has been derived.

T&F Certified Public Accountants, LLC
Gaithersburg, Maryland
May XX, 2022
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RMC RESEARCH & EDUCATION FOUNDATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31, 2021 (With Summarized Financial Information as of December 31, 2020)

2021
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Due from NRMCA
Accrued interest
Pledge receivable - Troesh match
Pledges receivable (net of allowance)
Prepaid expenses
Property and equipment
Accumulated depreciation

2020

$

578,732
27,783,389
13,711
58,600
1,175,275
291,953
80,000
(80,000)

$

1,725,724
23,830,727
42,471
66,202
1,495,874
250,000
80,000
(80,000)

$

29,901,660

$

27,410,998

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued compensation

20,737
141,462

$

15,024
167,779

TOTAL LIABILITIES

162,199

182,803

28,428,088
1,311,373

25,657,322
1,570,873

29,739,461

27,228,195

TOTAL ASSETS

NET ASSETS
Without donor restrictions
With donor restrictions
TOTAL NET ASSETS
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

$

29

29,901,660

$

27,410,998
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RMC RESEARCH & EDUCATION FOUNDATION
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021 (with Summarized Financial Information for 2020)

Totals
Without Donor
Restrictions

With Donor
Restrictions

2021

2020

SUPPORT AND REVENUE
Contributions - multi-year pledges
Contributions - restricted (RPT)
Contributions - one-time pledges and soft contributions
Special events (net)
Investment income
Net assets released from restrictions

$

TOTAL SUPPORT AND REVENUE

258,575
7,909
579,284
1,156,658

$

2,002,426

832,058
65,100
(1,156,658)

$

(259,500)

832,058
65,100
258,575
7,909
579,284
-

$

294,658
21,466
1,000
465,433
-

1,742,926

782,557

FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES
Program and related services
Management and general
TOTAL FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

NET CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

1,489,354
211,545

-

1,489,354
211,545

1,479,619
213,736

1,700,899

-

1,700,899

1,693,355

301,527

REALIZED AND UNREALIZED
GAIN (LOSS) ON INVESTMENTS

2,469,239

CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

2,770,766

NET ASSETS - BEGINNING

25,657,322

NET ASSETS - ENDING

$

28,428,088
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(259,500)

42,027

(259,500)
1,570,873
$

1,311,373

$

(910,798)

2,469,239

2,531,588

2,511,266

1,620,790

27,228,195

25,607,405

29,739,461

$

27,228,195
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RMC RESEARCH & EDUCATION FOUNDATION
STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021 (with Summarized Financial Information for 2020)

Totals
Program and
Related
Services

Management
and General

2021

2020

Accounting
Allowance for doubtful pledges
Credit card fees
Donated services, facilities & equipment
Donor recognition
Dues and subscriptions
Grants and contributions
Insurance
Licenses & permits
Meetings
Office expense
Postage
Printing
Retirement plan fees
Salaries and benefits
Telephone
Travel and meals

$

1,115,786
25
372,138
1,405

$

37,285
1,680
25,000
3,977
6,179
989
25
3,851
670
1,497
10,068
114,666
2,457
3,201

$

37,285
1,680
25,000
3,977
1,115,786
6,179
989
50
3,851
670
1,497
10,068
486,804
2,457
4,606

$

36,140
2,308
25,000
860
3,647
1,118,664
6,179
1,304
4,106
174
404
182
8,461
474,056
2,091
9,779

TOTAL EXPENSES

$

1,489,354

$

211,545

$

1,700,899

$

1,693,355
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RMC RESEARCH & EDUCATION FOUNDATION
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021 (with Summarized Financial Information for 2020)

2021
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Increase (decrease) in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile increase (decrease) in net assets
to net cash provided (used) by operating activities:
Realized and unrealized (gain) loss on investments
Donated services, facilities & equipment expense
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in due from NRMCA
(Increase) decrease in accrued interest
(Increase) decrease in pledges receivable - Troesh match
(Increase) decrease in pledges receivable (net)
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Increase (decrease) in accrued compensation

$

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of investments
Proceeds from sales of investments

2,511,266

2020
$

1,620,790

(2,469,239)
-

(2,531,588)
-

28,760
7,602
320,599
(41,953)
5,713
(26,317)

(35,565)
15,848
600,000
1,220,858
41,668
(11,096)
109,840

336,431

1,030,755

(7,845,402)
6,361,979

(15,411,004)
15,419,153

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(1,483,423)

8,149

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(1,146,992)

1,038,904

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - BEGINNING OF YEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR

1,725,724
$
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578,732

686,820
$

1,725,724
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations
The RMC Research & Education Foundation (the “Foundation”) is a nonprofit organization
located in Alexandria, Virginia. The Foundation is dedicated to enhancing and strengthening the
ready mixed concrete industry through independent research and quality educational
programming.
Basis of Accounting
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual method of accounting.
Under this method, support and revenue are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized
when incurred.
Basis of Presentation:
The Foundation reports information regarding its financial position and activities according to two
classes of net assets: net assets without donor restrictions and net assets with donor restrictions.
Net Assets without Donor Restrictions:
These net assets generally result from revenues generated by receiving contributions that have
no donor restrictions, providing services, and receiving interest from operating investments,
less expenses incurred in providing program related services, raising contributions, and
performing administrative functions.
Net Assets with Donor Restrictions:
These net assets result from gifts of cash and other assets that are received with donor
stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets, either temporarily or permanently, until the
donor restriction expires, that is until the stipulated time restriction ends or the purpose of the
restriction is accomplished, the net assets are restricted.
Assets and liabilities have been presented in the Statement of Financial Position in an unclassified
manner, but in order of liquidity.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
certain reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of support and revenue and expenses
during the reporting period. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash in banks, and cash equivalents such as money
market funds, which are highly liquid debt instruments with maturities of less than ninety days.
Contributions
Contributions are considered to be available for any purpose, unless specifically restricted by the
donor. Amounts received that are designated for future periods, or restricted by the donor for specific
purposes are reported as net assets with donor restrictions, which increases those net asset classes.
Pledged contributions (unconditional) are recognized as revenue in the year the promise is made, and
are recorded at fair value, which is computed as the estimated present values of expected future cash
flows.
Provision for Uncollectible Pledges Receivable
Provision for uncollectible pledges receivable is based on management’s evaluation, taking into
account factors such as prior collection history, type of contribution, and other relevant factors
surrounding the donor’s ability to honor the promise. Provision for estimated losses on collection of
unpaid pledges is maintained at a level management believes is sufficient to cover potential losses.
Investments
In accordance with ASC No. 958-320, "Not-for-Profit Entities, Investments - Debt and Equity
Securities" investments in equity securities, with readily determinable fair values and all investments
in debt securities, are reported at the fair value on a recurring basis on the Statement of Financial
Position. Realized gains (losses) are recorded upon the sale of the investments. Interest income is
recognized under the accrual basis, and dividend income is recognized on the ex-dividend date.
Investment income (loss) is comprised of the following at December 31, 2021:
Interest and dividend income

$

Unrealized gain (loss) on investments
Realized gain (loss) on investments

579,284
1,592,725
996,449
2,589,174
(119,935)

Less: Investment management fees
Net realized and unrealized gain (loss)

$

2,469,239

Investments are exposed to various risks such as interest rate, market and credit risks. It is reasonably
possible that changes in values of investments will occur in the near term and that such changes could
materially affect the amounts reported.
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property and Equipment
The Foundation capitalizes all expenditures for property and equipment in excess of $1,000. Property
and equipment are carried at cost and depreciated using straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the assets.
Allocation of Functional Expenses
The cost of providing the various program and related services and supporting services are
summarized on a functional basis on the Statement of Activities and Schedule of Functional Expenses.
Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among the program and related services and
supporting services benefited.
Federal Income Taxes
The Foundation is exempt from federal income taxes as an organization described under the Internal
Revenue Code (IRC) Section 501(c)(3), except for net income derived from unrelated business
activities, if any. The Foundation's open audit periods are 2018 through 2020. In accordance with
ASC No. 740-10, "Income Taxes" that was issued, and prescribes a comprehensive model for how
an organization should measure, recognize, present, and disclose uncertain tax positions taken on its
tax return. The Foundation believes that it has appropriate support for tax positions taken and, as
such, does not have any uncertain tax positions that are material to the financial statements.
Comparative Financial Information
The financial statements include certain prior-year summarized comparative information in total, but
not by net asset class. Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute a presentation
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, such information should
be read in conjunction with the Foundation's financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2020, from which the summarized information was derived.
Program vs. G&A Expenses
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Foundation spent approximately 88% of its expenses
on program expenditures, and about 12% on general and administrative expenses (including
fundraising). The Washington DC average was approximately 82% for program expenses, and about
18% for general and administrative expenses (including fundraising). This information was taken
from the Charity Navigator© 2017 Metro Market Study.
NOTE 2 – ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENT
In June 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards
Updated (ASU) No. 2018-08, Not-for-Profit Entities: Clarifying the Scope and the Accounting
Guidance for Contributions Received and Contributions Made. The ASU clarifies the accounting
guidance for contributions received and made, including guidance to help an entity evaluate whether
transactions should be accounted for as contributions (nonreciprocal transactions) or as exchange
(reciprocal) transactions, and determine whether a contribution is conditional.
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NOTE 3 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents consisted of the following as of December 31, 2021:

Cash and sweep accounts

$

2021
578,732

NOTE 4 – INVESTMENTS
Investments, by type, consist of the following at December 31, 2021:

Equities
Corporate Bonds
Mutual Funds
Municipal Bonds
U.S. Government Securities

Fair Value
$
18,675,981
7,117,934
1,641,499
145,314
202,661
$

27,783,389

% Allocation
67.3%
25.6%
5.9%
0.5%
0.7%
100.0%

The Foundation’s investments consist of various equity and debt instruments as summarized
above, and are reported at the fair value, based upon quoted market prices in active markets for
identical assets and debt instruments, which are a Level 1 valuation. The values of investments are
adjusted monthly on the Foundation’s books. Investment securities are exposed to various risks,
such as interest rate, market and credit risks. Due to the level of risk associated with certain
investment securities, it is at least possible that changes in the values of investment securities will
occur in the near-term and such changes could materially affect the amounts reported.
ASC No. 820, "Fair Value Measurements" establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority
to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements)
and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair
value hierarchy under ASC No. 820 are described below:
Level 1 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets
or liabilities in active markets that the Foundation has the ability to access.
Level 2 - Inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities in active markets and inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, directly or
indirectly, for substantially the full-term of the financial instrument.
Level 3 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value
measurement.
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NOTE 4 – INVESTMENTS (continued)
The following table summarizes the investments valued on a recurring basis with disaggregated
information, categorized by the level within the fair value hierarchy, at December 31, 2021:
Level 1
$ 18,675,981
7,117,934
1,641,499
145,314
202,661

Equities
Corporate Bonds
Mutual Funds
Municipal Bonds
U.S. Government Securities

$ 27,783,389

Level 2

Level 3

$

-

$

-

$

$

-

NOTE 5 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment at December 31, 2021, consisted of:
Testing Equipment
Less: Accumulated Depreciation

$

80,000
(80,000)

Net Book Value

$

-

NOTE 6 – PLEDGES RECEIVABLE
Pledges receivable represent donors’ promises to pay contributions to the Foundation, and are
measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows using a discount rate of approximately
3.75%. Collection of pledge receivables at December 31, 2021 is expected as follows:
Due within one year
Due within two to five years
Due in more than five years

$

663,225
712,050
500
1,375,775
(71,000)
1,304,775
(129,500)

$

1,175,275

Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts
Pledges receivable (future value)
Less: Discount to present value
Pledges receivable (present value)
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NOTE 7 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
On March 22, 2020, NRMCA made an “in-kind” pledge contribution to the Foundation in the
amount of $125,000. The pledge agreement calls for five equal payments of $25,000 to be paid in
annual installments over the next five years. In order to satisfy the terms of the pledge, NRMCA
has agreed to donate office facilities, professional services, and equipment usage to the
Foundation, which is valued at approximately $25,000 per year. The Foundation will recognize a
$25,000 payment on the pledge each year in recognition of the value of the donated office facilities,
professional services, and equipment usage. The Foundation also will record an equal amount
each year as donated facilities, equipment and professional services expense on the Statement of
Activities
The Foundation reimbursed NRMCA for personnel expenses related to two Foundation employees
who were paid via NRMCA’s payroll. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Foundation
reimbursed NRMCA for personnel expenses (including benefits) in the amount of $486,804.
As of December 31, 2021, NRMCA owed the Foundation $13,711 related to 2021 employee
401(k) deferrals.
NOTE 8 – CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK
The Foundation currently maintains a majority of its investments with one investment firm.
Investments in this account are protected up to $500,000 (including up to $250,000 for cash) by
the Securities Investor Protection Corporation (SIPC). Cash, sweep accounts, and money market
deposits also receive an additional $250,000 of coverage provided by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation (FDIC). At December 31, 2021, the Foundation’s FDIC and SIPC
uninsured investment balance with Charles Schwab totaled $27,612,000. The investment firm also
maintains supplemental protection, above SIPC limits, through an outside insurer (Lloyds of
London). It cannot be determined how much, if any, of the Foundation’s uninsured SIPC
investments would be covered under the outside insurer’s protection in the event a claim was made.
The Foundation has no other significant concentrations of credit risk as of December 31, 2021.
NOTE 9 – NET ASSETS - WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS
Net assets with donor restrictions at December 31, 2021 consisted of:
Type of Restriction

Amount

Pledges receivable – time and use restricted
Robert P. Turner endowment – use restricted
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1,246,273
65,100

$

1,311,373
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NOTE 10 – DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN
The Foundation maintains a 401(k) plan for which all employees are eligible to participate.
Employer contributions amounted to $24,008 for the year ended December 31, 2021.
NOTE 11 – MIT RESEARCH PROJECT
On September 1, 2009, the Foundation partnered with another unrelated non-profit organization
(PCA), and entered into a five-year Master Research Agreement (the “Agreement”) with the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology (“MIT”). The Agreement set forth a plan to establish a
Concrete Sustainability Hub (the “Hub”) at MIT which is of mutual interest and benefit to the
Foundation and its partners. This original agreement expired on August 31, 2014.
On August 16, 2019, the Foundation renewed its five-year Master Research Agreement
commitment with the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. The renewed agreement commenced
on September 1, 2019, and is scheduled to continue through August 31, 2024.
The Agreement
calls for total funding of seven million five hundred thousand dollars ($7,500,000), of which five
hundred thousand dollars ($500,000) per year will be paid by the Foundation, and one million
dollars ($1,000,000) will be paid by its partner. The Foundation has also agreed to make an
unconditional promise to give of five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000) per year, which will be
used to support the activities of the CSHub researchers. The Agreement may be terminated for any
reason with at least a one-year prior written notice from the Foundation. During the year ended
December 31, 2020, the Foundation amended its September 1, 2020 through August 31, 2021
program payment to be only $250,000 (instead of $500,000), and therefore program related and
contribution related expenses related to the Hub project amounted to $833,332 for the year ended
December 31, 2021. Prepaid expenses and accrued expenses related to this project amounted to
$291,666 and $0, respectively, and are recorded on the Statement of Financial Position as of
December 31, 2021. See NOTE 13 for additional developments.
The following sets forth the Foundation’s projected cash-basis payment schedule as outlined in
the new agreement:
Year Ending December 31,
2022
2023
2024

$

1,000,000
1,000,000
375,000

$

2,375,000
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NOTE 12 – LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
The Foundation monitors its liquidity so that it is able to meet its operating needs and other
contractual commitments while maximizing the investment of its excess operating cash. The
Foundation has the following financial assets that could be made available within one year of the
balance sheet to fund expenses without limitations:
Financial Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Due from NRMCA
Accrued interest
Pledges receivable (net of allowance)
Financial Assets, at year-end

$

Less those unavailable for general expenditures within
one year, due to:
Pledges receivable collectible beyond one year
Financial assets available to meet cash needs for general
expenditures within one year

578,732
27,783,389
13,711
58,600
1,175,275
29,609,707

(512,050)
$

29,097,657

In addition to the financial assets available to meet general expenditures over the year, the
Foundation operates with a balanced budget.
NOTE 13 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
MIT Research Project
The Foundation’s commitment to the MIT research project could increase beyond the amounts
outlined in the most recent agreement dated in August 2019 (see NOTE 11). The Foundation’s
project partner submitted its one-year advance termination notice which will end the relationship
on August 31, 2022. The Foundation is committed to continuing the project with or without its
partner, therefore the Foundation’s annual commitment could potentially rise to $2 million per
year starting in 2023 depending on the partner’s future commitment, if any. However, the
Foundation has secured a pledge commitment from one of its members for $750,000, which will
help offset this cost by $250,000 per year from 2022 to 2024.

Management of the Foundation has evaluated subsequent events through May XX, 2022, which is
the date the financial statements were available to be issued. No other significant subsequent events
have been identified by Management.
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$34,623
$0
$3,320
$6,179
$995
$50,771

$3,320
$6,179
$995
$50,771

Retirement Plan Mgt/Accounting Fees

Insurance Fees

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

Catering, Mtgs., Conferences

Audio/Visual

Meeting Room Expenses

Fundraising Event Expenses

TOTAL MEETING EXPENSES

Meeting Expenses

TOTAL PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

Dues/Subscriptions

Banking/Investment Fees
Legal Fees

Accounting Fees
$34,623
$0

$167,071

$5,655

$292,070

$5,655

Professional Services

TOTAL PROGRAM DISBURSEMENTS

Program Disbursements - Grants

$167,071

($1,249,793)

($1,249,793)

TOTAL INCOME - INVESTMENT EARNINGS

$292,070

($1,892,223)

($1,892,223)

Unrealized Gain (Loss) on Securities

EXPENSES

$550,308

$550,308

Realized Gain (Loss) on Securities

$71,403

$151,886

$92,123

$0

$0

$92,123

$71,403

$151,886

Modified Cash
Basis YTD
March 2022

Dividends and Interest on Securities

INCOME - INVESTMENT EARNINGS

TOTAL INCOME - CONTRIBUTIONS

Fundraising Events Receipts

Pledge Redemption, New Pledges, Holcim for MIT

INCOME - CONTRIBUTIONS

Accrual Basis
YTD March
2022

$6,000

$1,500

$1,000

$500

$3,000

$190,400

$4,900

$6,500

$9,000

$132,000
$0

$38,000

$1,775,250

$1,775,250

$1,375,000

$1,110,900

$10,000

$1,100,900

2022 Approved
Budget

$6,000

$1,500

$1,000

$500

$3,000

$139,629

$3,906

$321

$5,680

$97,377
$0

$32,345

$1,608,179

$1,608,179

($2,624,793)

($1,039,497)

($10,000)

($1,029,497)

Positive
(Negative)
Budget
Variance

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

27%

20%

95%

37%

26%
0%

15%

9%

9%

-91%

6%

0%

6%

% Cash to
Budget

Likely to Exceed Budget Due to Addition of Summer Strategic
Planning Meeting

Expenses for Walk/Raffle Fundraisers - See Increased Income

2 Meetings

2 Meetings

Budgeted for 2 Regular Meetings

Directors' Liability Insurance & Crime Coverage - Paid in Full
Fees for Database System Which Incorporates Communications,
Fundraising, Website - Contract Renews in 2022 at Higher Rate

Fees to Principal, Merrill Lynch, JM Pension Advisory

48 Basis Points on $27.5M Endowment

Pledge Accounting, Monthly Reconciliation and Statements, Tax
Filings and Audit + Quickbooks Online Monthly Subscription

$1.5M to MIT ($1.25M RMC $250K LH) + $105,250K PreApproved + $150K in New Programs

5% on Average $27.5 Million Endowment

Fundraisers (Walks, 50/50 Raffle, Etc.)

Current Pledges Scheduled to be Paid in 2022, new cash goal 2022
($550K), Holcim pledge to Support MIT CSHub ($250K)

2022 Approved Budget - Notes
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$0
$261
$365
$227
$1,031

$0
$365
$227
$1,031

Printing/Photocopying & Marketing

Postage/Overnight/Courier

$1,482
$549
$586
$4,426
$340,784
($1,519,174)

$1,482
$549
$586
$4,426
$465,783
($1,563,690)

Hotel Expenses
Meal Expenses

NET GAIN/(LOSS)

TOTAL EXPENSES

TOTAL TRAVEL EXPENSES

Car Rental/Mileage/Taxi

$1,809

$1,809

$117,485

$117,485

TOTAL SALARIES & FEES

Travel Expenses
Transportation Expenses

$117,485
$0
$0

$117,485
$0
$0

Salaries, Taxes, Benefits & Bonus Potential
Staff Parking
Staff Development

Salaries & Fees

TOTAL OFFICE OPERATIONS

Office Equipment
$261

$178

$178

Modified Cash
Basis YTD
March 2022

Online Meetings/Conference Calls

Office Supplies

Office Operations

Accrual Basis
YTD March
2022

$1,487

$2,484,413

$15,650

$2,000

$5,400
$2,250

$6,000

$490,113

$487,113
$3,000
$0

$7,000

$500

$3,000

$500

$500

$2,500

2022 Approved
Budget

($1,520,661)

$2,143,629

$11,224

$1,414

$3,918
$1,701

$4,191

$372,628

$369,628
$3,000
$0

$5,969

$273

$2,635

$239

$500

$2,322

Positive
(Negative)
Budget
Variance

14%

28%

29%

27%
24%

30%

24%

24%
0%
0%

15%

45%

12%

52%

0%

7%

% Cash to
Budget

May Exceed Budget Due to High Travel Expenses; Addition of
Summer Meeting

Estimate Based on Previous Years

18 Hotel Nights @ $300 Each
18 Days @ $125 Each

12 Flights @ $500 Each

Individual Salaries Set by Compensation Committee; Includes 2.5%
Salaries Increase; Benefits; Bonus Potential
Parking $125 Per Person Monthly
Cut Staff Continuing Education Opportunities

WOC, NRMCA ConcreteWorks, Signage, Recognition, USB Keys

Based on 2021 Projection

Contingency for Needed Hardware or Software Upgrades

General Office Needs and for Distribution of Research Results, etc.

2022 Approved Budget - Notes

RMC RESEARCH & EDUCATION FOUNDATION ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Revised and Approved October 6, 2019May 24, 2022
INTRODUCTION
The RMC Research & Education Foundation shall have staffing sufficient to meet the
requirements of the organization.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.

Basis of Accounting
The Foundation’s financial statements are prepared on an accrual basis of accounting
(pending completion of accounting firm’s current work).

2.

Land, Buildings, Furniture and Equipment
Future building purchases will be recorded and depreciated in accordance with
recognized accounting practices. Furniture and equipment over $1,000 are
capitalized in the year of purchase.

3.

Uncollectible Pledges
Bad debts are recorded under the direct write‐off method whereby the expense is
recognized in the period the income becomes un‐collectible. A reasonable allowance
will be made in the budget and audit for uncollectible pledges as determined by
management in consultation with the independent auditor.

4.

Pledges
Pledges are billed annually in the month designated by the donor. Major pledge
commitments are verified annually through the independent audit of the Foundation.

5.

Income Taxes
The Foundation is exempt from income taxes under Section 501(c) (3) of the Internal
Revenue Code. Accordingly, no provision for income taxes is made in the financial
statements.

I.

BOOKS AND RECORDS

1.

The general ledger, accounts receivable subsidiary ledger, invoices, and other
association financial information are produced by the Foundation staff or an
accounting firm under the supervision of the Foundation Executive Director.

2.

The Executive Director shall ensure that a complete system backup of all electronic
records/database information is performed at least once a week with the month end
copy stored in an off‐site location as a back‐up.
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II.

CHECKING ACCOUNTS

1.

The Foundation’s checking account(s) shall be balanced against the financial
institution and the Foundation’s records monthly. The authorized signatories shall
include the Executive Director and the President of NRMCA who is an ex‐officio
Trustee. An officer should approve the Executive Director’s expenses, and a majority
of the officers must approve any expenses outside of the approved budget as well as
any expenditures over $5,000.

2.

All funds received by the Foundation are deposited to the checking account.

3.

It is the responsibility of the Executive Director and at least one officer of the
Foundation to periodically review the check register of the Foundation and report to
the Board of Trustees.

III.

INVESTMENTS (For a complete explanation see Investment Guidelines)

1.

The Foundation shall only deposit funds in banking and thrift institutions that are
federally insured.

2.

Foundation funds shall be invested based on the currently adopted Investment
Guidelines of the Foundation.

3.

The investment securities of the Foundation shall be held in a custodial account with
an accredited financial institution for, and in the name of, the Foundation designated
by the Board of Trustees. The institution shall be authorized to hold as custodian all
Foundation property deposited by the Foundation staff or collected by the
Foundation, to collect income and principal, to hold the assets received and the
proceeds of principal collections and investment, and to reinvest or distribute the
same in accordance with the written direction of the Board of Trustees.

4.

The Foundation shall prepare and distribute quarterly reports summarizing
investment activities to all members of the Board, with monthly statements being
distributed to the accounting firm for reconciliation. Monthly statements shall be
available to Board members upon request.

IV.

FINANCIAL AND AUDIT REPORTS

1.

The Foundation keeps its book on a calendar year basis. The staff shall prepare two
financial reports for the Board of Trustees each year. A proposed budget for the
next calendar year is presented to the Finance Committee for recommended
approval and then to the Board for final consideration at its fall meeting. The Board
at its spring meeting reviews the financial statements for the calendar year.

2.

As a 501(c)(3) non‐profit organization, the Foundation’s financials shall be publicly
disclosed on its IRS Form 990 as required by the IRS.
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3.

The Foundation’s auditor will be an independent Certified Public Accountant. At least
every three years, the Executive Director and the Finance Committee shall review the
auditor selection and make a recommendation for approval by the Board of Trustees.
The audit report is submitted to the Finance Committee and Board of Trustees of the
Foundation once a year. The independent auditor will report to the Finance
Committee upon request and is solicited periodically for advice by the staff on
financial and related matters during the year.

V.

TAX RETURNS

Payroll and personal property tax returns, as well as annual reports, are prepared under the
direction of the Executive Director.

VI.

BONDING

Each staff member and officer who handles Foundation funds shall be covered by a blanket
position bond in the amount of $1 million issued by a major national insurance company.

VII.

ACCOUNTING PROCEDURES

1.

Billing Procedures
Pledges are billed as designated by the donor.

2.

Receipts

A. The Foundation staff shall arrange for all receivables of the Foundation to be delivered to
the Foundation’s financial institution. The Foundation staff shall arrange to have the
deposit tickets and supporting documentation provided by the Foundation’s financial
institution. Invoicing procedures of the Foundation shall allow the clear identification of
the deposit tickets and documentation from the financial institution. The Foundation
shall have proper checks and balances on the recordation and crediting of all receivables
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
B. Receipts shall be date recorded as received, and electronically credited to the
appropriate account under the supervision and direction of the Executive Director to
ensure confidentiality and security of the Foundation's resources. The two functions of
receipt acknowledgement and date recordation and the recordation of the receipt to the
correct account shall be performed by a separate individual in the Foundation. Receipts
received shall be deposited as soon as possible and a minimum of semi‐weekly. Receipt
deposit slips from the Foundation’s financial institution shall be returned to the Executive
Director and used in the balancing of the Foundation’s checking account.

3.

Disbursements
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A. Disbursements from the Foundation shall be made from the Foundation’s checking
account on renumbered checks bearing the name and address of the organization.
Authorized signatories of the foundation shall sign the checks. Disbursements shall only
be made with the written approval of the Executive Director and with source
documentation. No disbursements shall be made to “cash” or “bearer”. Voided
Foundation checks shall be retained for review by the Foundation’s auditing firm during
the closing of the Foundation’s books.
B. Monthly bank statements from the Foundation’s financial institution shall be provided
electronically. The Executive Director shall supervise the monthly reconciliation of the
Foundation’s books using the receipt deposit ticket validated by the financial institution.
These validated deposit tickets shall be maintained with the reconciled banking balances.

4.

Security Investments
All securities of the Foundation shall be kept in the custody of the designated Foundation
financial institution approved by the Board of Trustees. The securities shall be in the
name of the RMC Research & Education Foundation only. The Executive Director shall
supervise the maintenance of records on the Foundation with a monthly reconciliation
performed. The Foundation’s auditing firm shall annually perform an audit of the
investment accounts. The financial institution’s fund manager shall provide quarterly
performance evaluation.

5.

Purchases & Expenses

A. Major items or services are purchased subject to competitive bidding based on a clearly
defined set of specifications.
B. The quantity and condition of goods received are determined and verified at the time of
receipt by the Foundation staff.
C. All invoices are approved and coded for payment by the Foundation staff prior to being
submitted for payment.
D. Invoices are checked for prices and credit terms, extensions, and freight charges or
allowances.
E. The Executive Director, prior to payment, approves all invoices under $5,000. All invoices
over $5,000, with the exception of contractual obligations already approved by the
Board of Trustees, require the approval of a majority of the following: Chairman of the
Board, Vice Chairman and the Treasurer.
6.

Payroll and Personnel Records

A. Employees are paid by check on the 15th and the end of the month, or the last working
day prior thereto. An authorized signatory, by way of the third party payroll processing
service, electronically signs checks.
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B. Payroll is processed electronically, through the use of an external payroll processing
service. Changes in an employee's status are entered every payroll cycle.
C. Electronic Direct Deposit of payroll is provided to all employees.
D. The auditors verify the compensation paid to the Executive Director annually.
It is the responsibility of the Executive Director to maintain up‐to‐date confidential personnel
files on all active employees, to include information such as: personal data, tax withholdings
information, INS compliance, leave records, benefits enrollment information and
performance evaluations. Salary records are kept offsite at the offices of a payroll firm.
(Records of terminated employees should be retained for a minimum of 7 years.)

VIII.

STAFF TRAVEL AND EXPENSE ACCOUNT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

NOTE: All procedures are indicated by BOXED frame.
GENERAL INFORMATION:
The purpose of this document is to coordinate, in one manual, all of the policies and
procedures regarding reimbursable business expenses to Foundation staff. This is to include
direct charge expenses by Foundation employees and personal outlays by staff that justify
reimbursement. Unless otherwise stated, these policies and procedures are in effect for
Foundation personnel. By its very nature, this document will from time to time require
additions and/or corrections. Please refer to the most recent revision of this manual for the
correct interpretation of the Foundation’s policies. This document incorporates Board
approved policies.
The Foundation shall conform to the most updated IRS reporting rules for employee
business, travel, meals and entertainment expenses. It is the policy of the Foundation that
staff members shall travel and live, while on out‐of‐town engagement or assignment, in a
manner befitting their professional standing and be reimbursed for expenses actually
incurred. At the same time, it is necessary that expenses be kept within reason. Foundation
employees are expected to exercise professional judgment and good common sense when
incurring Foundation expenses, whether traveling or transacting Foundation business in
Washington, DC or elsewhere while on official business. The Foundation will reimburse
expenses only when supported by a written expense report explaining the business purpose
or benefit to the Foundation. It is the Foundation’s policy that proper documentation of
business expenses be provided in accordance with the procedures herein.

1.

Travel & Entertainment Expenses

A. No staff member should be out of pocket for reimbursable expenses as a result of his or
her duties on behalf of the Foundation, provided such expenses are reasonable.
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B. Expense reports must be submitted for approval in a timely manner, at least yearly.
Details of reporting procedures are as follows:
The Executive Director’s expenses are to be submitted and approved by an
officer. All other staff members’ expenses are to be submitted to the Executive
Director for approval. The Treasurer or his delegate will periodically review
expense reports submitted by staff members. Staff expense reports may be
reviewed by members of the Finance Committee. All expense reports submitted
must contain appropriate detail and receipts in order for the expense to be
approved.
C. A travel advance for a reasonable amount may be issued to an employee traveling on
Foundation business. All advances will be issued by check to the individual. Any balance
due to the employee, or cash to be returned to the Foundation, must be reconciled
within 30 days of return of trip. Travel allowances are allowed up to a maximum of $100
per day. This account balance must be reconciled monthly, or immediately upon
termination of employment. Employees must submit expense account reports at least
quarterly and within the calendar year they are incurred in order to receive
reimbursement for expenses.
All requests for advances should be submitted by the employee to the Executive Director
at least two weeks in advance. An original receipt attached to the expense report must
properly document all expenses of $25 or more. Except in the case of restaurant
expenses, an original detailed hotel bill, car rental bill, airline ticket voucher or coupon, or
other receipts must accompany a cardholder copy of the charge slip in order to obtain
reimbursement. All business meals or entertainment expenditures must be documented
on the expense report, including the names, organizations, and purpose of the function
on the receipt.
D. All expense reports must be reviewed for reasonableness of amounts and for compliance
with these Foundation policies. Any reporting of excessive spending, failure to provide
adequate documentation or substantiation, or abuse of this policy are grounds for
disciplinary action.

2.

Documentation

A. All business meals or entertainment expenditures must be documented on the expense
report. A receipt must be attached if the expenditure is for $25 or more.
B. Documentation for business meals and entertainment expenses, whether out‐of‐town or
local, must substantiate the business purpose of the expenditures by providing the
following information:




date, place, city and description of meal or entertainment;
name(s), company affiliation(s), and business relationship(s) of persons in
attendance;
business purpose (business discussed);
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the amount spent.

3. Reimbursable Expenses – Out‐Of‐Town
A. Travel expenses allow staff members to include all those necessary for the conduct of
business, including reasonable personal expenses incurred in the course of conducting
business. At the discretion of the Executive Director, staff members may be permitted to
bring family members or guests on business trips. When a family member or guest
accompanies a staff member on business travel, the employee will pay all expenses of
the family member or guest, including the difference between single and double hotel
room rates.
B. Transportation: Plane and train accommodations as well as bus, cab and limousine fares
to and from the airports.
The last copy of the actual airplane ticket voucher or confirmation must be attached to
expense reports. Receipts must be obtained for cab or limousine fares in excess of $25.
Transportation tickets may not be claimed on expense reports prior to making the actual
trip unless the ticket was purchased and paid for to achieve supersaver discount fares
available through advance ticket purchases.
1) All staff air travel must be economy class. Exceptions must have prior approval
from the Foundation’s Executive Director. While full economy airfare is allowed
for each segment of business air travel, if necessary, employees are expected
to plan their itineraries sufficiently in advance to qualify the Foundation for
reduced rate airfares. Employees may have the discretion to expense
reasonable airfare add‐on charges such as coach class priority seating or
boarding, and carry‐on bag fees, as necessary, while maintaining their best
judgment for cost‐effective, efficient travel. Staff members who take personal
side trips while traveling on Foundation business will pay all personal expenses,
including any additional airfare incurred.
The employee must pay the portion for the side trip personally at the time the ticket
is written. Personal side trips planned during business travel must have the prior
approval of the Executive Director.
2) If an employee opts for an alternate form of transportation (ex: automobile
instead of airline) for personal reasons, the employee will be reimbursed for
the lesser of: the average round‐trip airfare and associate travel/taxi expenses;
or mileage reimbursement and associated travel expenses (meals, tools,
overnight accommodations, etc.)
C. Gratuities: Tipping should be reasonable, taking into consideration the quality of the
service and the nature of the establishment.
Fifteen percent is a normal guideline.
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D. Room Service: Room service is a reimbursable meal expense.
Room service may be utilized for necessary staff meetings, hospitality functions, or
extended workdays while on travel.
E. Lodging: Corporate hotel/motel rates should be obtained where feasible. A reasonable
number of business phone calls of moderate length may be charged if cell phone
coverage is not available. Use of recreational facilities or other amenities provided by
hotels/motels, but incurring additional expense, is to be kept at a minimum.
Personal charges such as in‐room movies, etc., are individual expenses and must be
reimbursed to the Foundation.
F. The Foundation recognizes that airlines, car rental companies, and hotels, among others,
offer incentives to frequent users of their services. The employee may use these
incentives when related to individual travel. If a larger meeting is held and incentives are
offered, the incentives are to be applied to the Foundation’s expenses where possible.
Employees are under no obligation to participate in any travel or lodging award
programs.
G. It is understood that suppliers or vendors sometimes entertain for business discussions.
These activities are entirely appropriate as long as it is not in a context which may be
misconstrued. It is the Foundation’s policy that no gifts, presents or benefits with a value
of $250 or more will be accepted by Foundation staff members from a supplier or vendor.
The public image of the Foundation must be kept foremost in mind when receiving
entertainment at the expense of someone else. At no time should even the appearance
be given that employees are giving favorable treatment to specific suppliers for any
reason.
H. Some staff members may be offered complimentary travel and lodging as part of
“familiarization” trips, for the purpose of determining the desirability of particular
destinations for the Foundation’s meetings. Acceptance of travel and entertainment for
these types of trips is by pre‐trip approval of the Executive Director.
An expense report will be submitted for the time spent on “familiarization” trips, even if
no expenses are incurred. A reason for the trip must be detailed on a trip authorization
form, and wherever possible, the travel itinerary should indicate the trip is a
“familiarization” trip, which offers complimentary travel, lodging, meals, etc.
I.

Personal Automobiles: Mileage allowance in an amount authorized by the IRS to and
from the airport, or standard mileage to and from the out‐of‐town assignment (not to
exceed airfare amount). Toll and parking charges, if applicable.
In the case of car rentals, personal liability is not covered by the Foundation’s insurance.
Employees should consult their own insurance agent. Employees are asked to use the
mode of transportation that is most economical, reliable and time feasible for the
business purpose.
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J. Personal Meals: Breakfast, lunch and dinner (including tips).

Stubs from restaurant checks are not considered to be valid receipts, unless they are
from an establishment that does not accept credit cards. Attach receipts for all charges
$25 or more to support such charges. All meals are to be reported on the expense report
and recorded on the appropriate form.
K. Laundry: Valet service and laundry is reimbursable only after the trip extends beyond
four days, and if the individual does not return home over the weekend.
L. Personal: Personal entertainment and other special non‐business items incurred during
an out‐of‐town trip are not reimbursable.
4.

Reimbursable Expenses – Local

A. Personal Automobiles: In the event that employees utilize their personal automobiles on
Foundation business locally, reimbursement will be made at the rate authorized by the
IRS for each mile driven, plus toll and parking charges. No reimbursement is provided for
commuting expenses.
B. Meals: Employee business lunches or other meetings conducted at a meal or over
refreshments for purposes of discussing business must be reported on the appropriate
expense report forms. As a general rule, staff meals are not reimbursable, except when
prior approval of the Executive Director is obtained. The frequency with which these
expenditures occur is an important factor in determining whether such expenses are a
necessity, and thus should be incurred on an occasional basis only. Documentation and
substantiation requirements apply. These expenditures must be “ordinary and
necessary” business expenses i.e., the meals and entertainment must be necessary to
accomplish the business purpose.
C. Meetings, Conferences, and Seminars.
Meals and entertainment expenses incurred as part of attendance at conferences or
meetings or approved professional societies, educational conferences, and Foundation
sponsored meetings/seminars held outside the office should be reported on an expense
report.
5.

Reimbursable Expenses – Special Categories

A. Club Expenditures: The expenditures at private membership clubs for the purposes of
authorized entertainment, which have a clear business purpose, are reimbursable or
chargeable to a Foundation account. These expenditures must be “ordinary and
necessary” business expenses i.e., the meal and entertainment must be necessary to
accomplish the business purpose. The frequency with which these expenditures occur is
an important factor in determining whether such expenses are necessary.
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Documentation and substantiation requirements apply. Dues are to be reported on the
expense report after payment by the member. Expenses of a personal nature will not be
reimbursed.
B. Dues for Professional Societies: Membership dues are reimbursable or chargeable to a
Foundation account for all approved professional societies and organizations, such as
ASAE, ASCE, ASTM, and ACI. Approval of the Executive Director is required, and is
subject to review by the Finance Committee.
C. Charitable Events.
Tickets for fundraising events or charity dinners are normally not to be expensed through
the expense reporting system. Also, expenditures must be pre‐approved by the
Executive Director and processed through the office’s normal contribution procedures.
D. Purchases of Special Supplies: The purchase of any special supplies or services must be
processed through the normal office supply function. The Executive Director must
approve all orders or subscriptions for publications.
6.

Travel Authority
The authority to travel at Foundation expense in the case of all members of the staff is
subject to pre‐approval by the Executive Director. As a general rule, travel at
Foundation expense shall be limited to instances where the individual has a specific
role to play in the function being attended.
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RMC Research & Education Foundation
2022 Communications Report
Published Communications
RMCREF Spotlight: Finding & Hiring New Drivers
RMCREF – January 25, 2022
https://rmc-foundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/RMCREF-Spotlight-1-25-22.pdf
Press Release: New Study Available from the RMC Research & Education Foundation: Simulation-based
Investigation of the Performance of Low-rise Concrete Walls with Low Reinforcement Ratios
RMCREF – February 11, 2022
https://rmc-foundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/PR-UW-Report-2-11-22.pdf
RMC Foundation report: Optimize low-rise C-I-P wall reinforcement
Concrete Products – February 14, 2022 & Concrete Currents – February 16, 2022
https://concreteproducts.com/index.php/2022/02/14/rmc-foundation-report-optimize-low-rise-c-i-p-wallreinforcement/
Video Releases
Video of U of OK, Dolese Bros., and R&R Homes Collaboration on ICF Project (funded in part by
RMCREF)/ https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KXAk2Jn1mEc
Video on Benefits and Use of the Guide to Concrete Overlays of Asphalt Parking Lots/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NjJX2zIEkQc&t=39s
Pending Press Releases
Concrete Strength Model Provides Important New Industry Tool – Release TBD
RMC Research & Education Foundation Releases 2nd Edition of the Guide to Concrete Overlays of Asphalt
Parking Lots – Release TBD
Planned Project Releases in 2022
♦
♦
♦
♦
♦
♦
♦

Update to Concrete Delivery Professional Certification Content and Format
Skate4Concrete Recruitment Program
Concrete Habitat Homes Design and Construction Competition
Concrete Testing Adherence Collaboration to National Usage
Life-365 Tool – Transformation to an Online Platform
Compilation of Acoustic Data for Concrete Construction
Validation of Reduced Reinforcing Spacing in Concrete Walls
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♦ Comparison of Earthquake Resilience of ICF to Other Materials for Multi-Family Multi-Story Apt
Building
♦ Comparison of Cost & Energy Performance Comparison: Houses Built with ICF vs. Conventional
Construction
♦ Reliable Measurement and Speciation of Sulfur in Concrete Aggregates
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2022 Media Report for the MIT Concrete Sustainability Hub
3 Questions: What a single car can say about traffic
MIT News – February 7, 2022
https://news.mit.edu/2022/3-questions-meshkat-botshekan-what-single-car-says-about-traffic-0207
TechXplore – February 8, 2022
https://techxplore.com/news/2022-02-car-traffic.html
MIT community members elected to the National Academy of Engineering for 2022
MIT News – February 17, 2022
https://news.mit.edu/2022/mit-community-members-elected-national-academy-engineering-0217
MIT CSHub 2021 Annual Report
MIT CSHub – March 2022
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1joejahMEp5zyQpyt2j1Q2azuKH9dXlAW/view?usp=sharing
Report Demonstrates Concrete’s Importance in Sustainability
WOC 360 – March 1, 2022
https://www.woc360.com/industry-news/report-demonstrates-concretes-importance-sustainability
Q&A: Randolph Kirchain on how cool pavements can mitigate climate change
MIT News – March 10, 2022
https://news.mit.edu/2022/qa-randolph-kirchain-how-cool-pavements-can-mitigate-climate-change-0310
Meta Tests AI-Developed Lower-Carbon Concrete on Data Center Project
Engineering News Record (ENR) – April 28, 2022
https://www.enr.com/articles/54024-meta-tests-ai-developed-lower-carbon-concrete-on-data-centerproject
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Summary of Proposals for Consideration
Project 22-01: ASR Mitigation of Concrete with Multifunctional Nanosilica, $85,388 over 18 months,
submitted by University of Louisville – Both the Advisory Council and Program Committee
recommended the project for rejection.
Project 22-02: Minimize Shrinkage Cracking of High Performance Concrete with Internal Curing,
$74,500 over 18 months, submitted by University of Louisville – Both the Advisory Council and Program
Committee recommended the project for rejection.
Project 22-03: Enhancing Eco-Efficiency of Concrete Using Solid Wastes-Derived Carbon-Negative
Supplementary Cementitious Materials, $150,000 over 24 months, submitted by Missouri University of
Science and Technology – Both the Advisory Council and the Program Committee chose to table the
project.
Project 22-04: Rapid Screening of Supplementary Cementitious Materials for Alkali-Silica Reaction
Durability, $50,000 over 12 months, submitted by University of Miami – Both the Advisory Council and
the Program Committee chose to table the project.
Project 22-05: Regulating Concrete Temperatures with Phase Change Composites, $100,000 over 12
months, submitted by Iowa State University INTRANS and Diversified Construction Services (DCS) –
Both the Advisory Council and Program Committee recommended the project for rejection.
Project 22-06: A Concrete Strength Model to Optimize Concrete Mixtures – Phase Two, Submitted by Ed
Dunstan – Both the Advisory Council and Program Committee recommended the project for rejection.
Project 22-07: Concrete Advancement Network Consortium – Both the Advisory Council and the
Program Committee chose to table the project.
Project 22-08: Regional Low Embodied Concrete Mixtures, $100,000 over 6 months, submitted by the 5
CIM universities with support by Dr. Heather Brown, IMI – Both the Advisory Council and the Program
Committee chose to table the project.
Project 22-09: Building Insurance Study, $6,000 in 2022, submitted by Dr. Pieter VanderWerf with cofunding and support by NRMCA – Both the Advisory Council and the Program Committee recommended
the project be approved for funding.
Project 22-10: Transforming the Concrete Delivery Professional Workforce, $146,400 over 12 months,
submitted by MIT – The Advisory Council recommended the project be approved for funding while the
Program Committee chose to advance the project without making a recommendation.
Project 22-11: Towards Optimal, Green, and Affordable Concretes: A Case for Autonomous Fabrication,
$50,000 - $75,000 over 18-24 months, submitted by Dr. MZ Naser, PE, Clemson University – The
Advisory Council recommended the project be rejected for funding while the Program Committee chose
to table the project.
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RMC Research & Education Foundation
Board of Trustees Officers & Committees
2022 Board of Trustees Officers
Chairman: Rodney Grogan
Vice Chairman: Jamie Gentoso
Secretary/Treasurer: Hall Chaney
Administration Committee
The administration committee shall be chaired by the foundation vice chair and shall be responsible for
nominating candidates for office and membership on the Board of Trustees, and for periodically
reviewing and recommending changes to the foundation’s bylaws and Board of Trustee job
description. The administration committee shall also act as the lead committee for fundraising strategy
and implementation. Meets on an “as needed” basis.
2022 Chairman: Jamie Gentoso
Committee Members: Henry Batten, Hall Chaney, Steve Cox, Jamie Gentoso, Rodney Grogan, Don
Ingrassano, Kyle Loyd, Pete Lyons, Scott Parson, Mike Philipps, and Chris Schenone
Program Committee
The program committee shall be responsible for reviewing all new proposals to the foundation, making
recommendations to the board as appropriate, as well as recommending initiation of “requests for
proposals” (RFP’s) on key issues of interest to the industry. The committee shall also provide projects
oversight as consistent with the contracted schedule of milestones for delivery. The vice chair of the
program committee shall also serve as the chair of the advisory council. Meets on an “as needed”
basis.
2022 Chairman: Filiberto Ruiz
2022 Advisory Council Chairman: Pete Lyons
Committee Members: Henry Batten, Tim Becken, David Campos, Ted Chandler, Hall Chaney,
Bruce Christensen, Joel Galassini, Jamie Gentoso, Rodney Grogan, John Holliday, Don Ingrassano,
Pete Lyons, Adam Manatt, Bill Mullen, Scott Parson, Jonathan Randall, Filiberto Ruiz, Massimo Toso,
and Alan Wessel
Finance Committee
The finance committee shall be chaired by the treasurer. The committee shall be responsible for the
review and proposal of appropriate recommendations on the financial statements, annual audit,
proposed budgets, and accounting policies. The committee shall review and make recommendations
related to the performance of the investment advisor, accounting firm and auditor. Meets on an “asneeded” basis.
2022 Chairman: Hall Chaney
Committee Members: Henry Batten, Tim Becken, Alex Car, Ted Chandler, Hall Chaney, Rick
Edwards, John Ernst, Jamie Gentoso, Rodney Grogan, Don Ingrassano, Abbott Lawrence, Adam
Manatt, Scott Parson, Filiberto Ruiz and Chris Schenone
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RMC Research & Education Foundation
Board of Trustees
As of May 10, 2022

AC: Administration Committee/FC: Finance Committee/
PC: Program Committee/AdC: Advisory Council

Mr. Rodney Grogan (2024) AC, FC, PC, AdC
Chairman
Dunn Investment Company
P.O. Box 2569
Madison, MS 39130
Phone: 601-898-4004
Fax: 601-898-4030
E-mail: rgrogan@mmcmaterials.com

Mr. Timothy A. Becken (2022) FC, PC
Cemstone Products Co.
2025 Centre Pointe Blvd., Suite 300
Mendota Heights, MN 55120
Phone: 651-688-9292
Fax: 651-688-0124
E-mail: timbecken@cemstone.com

Ms. Jamie Gentoso (2023) AC, FC, PC, AdC
Vice Chairman
Holcim
8700 W. Bryn Mawr Avenue, Suite 300
Chicago, IL 60631
Phone: 773 355-4785
Fax:
E-mail: jamie.gentoso@lafargeholcim.com

Mr. David Campos (2023) PC
GCP Applied Technologies
62 Whittemore Ave.
Cambridge, MA 02140
Phone: 617-498-4349
Fax:
E-mail: david.campos@gcpat.com

Mr. Francis “Hall” Chaney (2024) AC, FC, PC,
AdC
Secretary/Treasurer
Chaney Enterprises
2410 Evergreen Rd., Suite 201
Gambrills, MD 21054
Phone: 240-299-1520
Fax: 240-206-4191
E-mail: hchaney@chaneyenterprises.com

Mr. Alexander C. Car (2024) FC
Lehigh Hanson
7660 Imperial Way
Allentown, PA 18195
Phone: 610-366-4860
Fax: 610-366-4616
E-mail: Alex.Car@LehighHanson.com

Mr. Henry Batten (2024) AC, FC, PC
Concrete Supply Co.
P.O. Box 5247
Charlotte, NC 28299-5247
Phone: 704-372-2930
Fax: 704-343-0271
E-mail: henry.batten@concretesupplyco.com

Mr. Ted E. Chandler (2024) FC, PC
Chandler Concrete Co., Inc.
P.O. Box 131
Burlington, NC 27216-0131
Phone: 336-226-1181
Fax: 336-570-0557
E-mail: ted.chandler@chandlerconcrete.com

58

Dr. Bruce Christensen (2023) PC
Master Builders Solutions
23700 Chagrin Blvd.
Beachwood, OH 44122-5506
Phone: 216-839-7270
Fax: 216-378-1290
E-mail: bruce.christensen@mbcc-group.com

Mr. Donald V. Ingrassano (2023) AC, FC, PC
Roanoke Cement Company/Titan America
88 Summerfield Court, Suite 201
Roanoke, VA 24019
Phone: 610-390-4345
Fax:
E-mail: dingrassano@titanamerica.com

Mr. Steve Cox (2022) AC
Command Alkon
1800 International Park Dr., Suite 400
Birmingham, AL 35243-4231
Phone: 205 879-3282
Fax: 205-870-1405
E-mail: scox@commandalkon.com

Mr. Abbott Lawrence (2024) FC
Martin Marietta
1627 Cole Blvd., Suite 200
Lakewood, CO 80401
Phone: 720-245-6447
Fax:
E-mail: abbott.lawrence@martinmarietta.com

Mr. Rick Edwards (2024) FC
Argos USA
3015 Windward Plaza, Suite 300
Alpharetta, GA 30005
Phone: 678-368-4320
Fax:
E-mail: redwards@argos-us.com

Mr. Kyle Loyd (2022) AC
Sika Corporation
201 Polito Ave.
Lyndhurst, NJ 07071
Phone: 314-452-1300
Fax: 636-225-2049
E-mail: loyd.kyle@us.sika.com

Mr. John Ernst (2022) FC
Ernst Concrete
3361 Successful Way
Dayton, OH 45371
Phone: 937-233-5555
Fax:
E-mail: jcernst@ernstconcrete.com

Mr. Pete Lyons (2022) AC, PC, AdC
Irving Materials Inc.
8032 N. State Road 9
Greenfield, IN 46140-9017
Phone: 317-326-3101
Fax:
E-mail: pete.lyons@irvmat.com

Mr. Joel Galassini (2023) PC
CEMEX
10100 Katy Fwy., Suite 300
Houston, TX 77043
Phone: 713-722-1750
Fax:
E-mail: joel.galassini@cemex.com

Mr. Adam Manatt (Ex Officio) AC, PC
Manatt’s, Inc.
1775 Old 6 Road
Brookly, IA 52211
Phone: 641-522-9206
Fax: 641-522-5594
E-mail: adamm@manatts.com

Mr. John Holliday (Ex Officio) AC
Holliday Rock Company
401 North Benson Ave.
Upland, CA 91786
Phone: 909-972-0407
Fax: 909-949-3615
E-mail: jfhhrc@hollidayrock.com

Mr. Nathan McKean (Ex Officio)
Breckenridge Material Co.
P.O. Box 440459
St. Louis, MO 63144
Phone: 314-962-1234
Fax: 314-962-1540
E-mail: nathan.mckean@breckenridgematerial.com
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Mr. Bill Mullen (2022) PC
CalPortland Co.
10655 Park Run Drive
Las Vegas, NV 89144-4589
Phone: 602-817-6910
Fax: 602-817-6939
E-mail: bmullen@calportland.com

Mr. Filiberto Ruiz (2022) FC, AdC
Votorantim Cimentos North America
55 Industrial Street
Toronto, ON M4G 3W9 CANADA
Phone: 416-696-4416
Fax: 416-423-6834
E-mail: Filiberto.Ruiz@vcimentos.com

Mr. Scott W. Parson (2024) AC, FC, PC
CRH Americas Materials Inc.
2350 S. 1900 W., Suite 100
Ogden, UT 84401
Phone: 801-731-1111
Fax: 801-731-8800
E-mail: Scott.Parson@na.crh.com

Mr. Christopher Schenone (2023) AC, FC
U.S. Concrete, Inc.
755 Stockton Avenue
San Jose, CA 95126-1839
Phone: 408-404-2330
Cell: 510-812-9516
Email: cschenone@us-concrete.com

Mr. Michael Philipps (Ex Officio) AC
National Ready Mixed Concrete Association
66 Canal Center Plaza, Suite 250
Alexandria, VA 22314
Phone: 703-706-4839
Fax: 703-706-4851
E-mail: mphilipps@nrmca.org

Mr. Massimo Toso (2022) PC
Buzzi Unicem USA
100 Brodhead Rd., Suite 230
Bethlehem, PA 18017
Phone: 610-882-5022
Fax: 610-997-5944
E-mail: massimo.toso@buzziunicemusa.com

Mr. Jonathan Randall (2023) PC
Mack Trucks, Inc.
7900 National Services Road
Greensboro, NC 27409
Phone: 336-291-5015
Fax:
E-mail: jonathan.Randall@macktruck.com

Mr. Alan Wessel (2023) PC
Thomas Concrete Inc.
2500 Cumberland Parkway, Suite 200
Atlanta, GA 30339
Phone: 770-438-6980
Fax:
E-mail: alan.wessel@thomasconcrete.com
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Do you shop on Amazon.com?
Amazon will donate 0.5% of the price of your eligible AmazonSmile purchases to the Ready Mixed Concrete (RMC) Research & Education Foundation whenever you shop at
www.Smile.Amazon.com. Simply click on the QR code above
or select the Foundation as your charity of choice for the program by visiting http://smile.amazon.com/ch/52-1680963. You
must specify a specific charity to ensure the Foundation will
receive qualifying donations.
Does your company shop for items and office supplies on
Amazon? Then please be sure to sign up and use
smile.amazon.com for all corporate purchases as well as your
personal purchases.
AmazonSmile is the same Amazon you’ve used before - same
products, same prices, same service.
Your regular shopping can go a long way toward supporting
the RMC Research & Education Foundation so please sign up
and select the Foundation as your charity of choice today!

RMC Research & Education Foundation | 66 Canal Center Plaza, Suite 250 | Alexandria | VA 22314
www.rmc-foundation.org

